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          2                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Good evening, and

          3  welcome to today's hearing of the Committee on Small

          4  Business, held jointly with the Council's Committee

          5  on Environmental Protection.

          6                 My name is Mike Nelson and I have the

          7  privilege of chairing the Committee on Small

          8  Business.

          9                 Council Member James Gennaro chairs

         10  the Committee on Environmental Protection, to my

         11  right.

         12                 Today's hearing has been convened for

         13  the purposes of considering two pieces of

         14  legislation. The first item is Intro. No. 711, which

         15  clarifies the authority of the Environmental Control

         16  Board, currently known as the ECB.

         17                 ECB is an adjudicatory body which

         18  conducts hearings on a host of violations issued by

         19  many City agencies, ranging from DEP from DOT,

         20  Department of Environmental Protection, Department

         21  of Transportation, and the Buildings Department.

         22                 These City agencies issue notices of

         23  violations to those who allegedly violate laws

         24  passed by the City Council.

         25                 The City Council, when it passed many
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          2  of these laws, set forth monetary civil penalties

          3  ranging within which ECB hearing officers may after

          4  a hearing impose a penalty.

          5                 Ranges of the penalties were often

          6  chosen by this Legislature to allow hearing officers

          7  to exercise a discretion on a case-by-case basis,

          8  with regard to what civil penalty within the

          9  permissible range to impose.

         10                 The penalty range would allow a

         11  hearing officer after hearing to impose a higher

         12  civil penalty without -- within, rather, the

         13  permissible range for offenses found to be more

         14  egregious.

         15                 Similarly, the lower end of a civil

         16  penalty range could be imposed by a hearing officer

         17  when there is a finding of mitigating circumstances.

         18                 Unfortunately, the Environmental

         19  Control Board has seen fit to unilaterally direct

         20  its hearing officers to assess the specified amounts

         21  within the permissible penalty range for specific

         22  violations.

         23                 For example, for a violation that

         24  comes with a statutory penalty range between $100

         25  and $500, ECB has been directing its hearing
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          2  officers that the fine must be $400 or no lower than

          3  $400.

          4                 This approach has resulted in two

          5  very negative consequences: First, it devalues ECB's

          6  hearing officers by stripping them of the statutory

          7  discretion to impose a civil penalty that they deem

          8  appropriate within the permissible range after

          9  hearing all the facts of a given case.

         10                 Secondly, it represents an

         11  impermissible infringement upon legislative powers

         12  by artificially limiting the statutory acceptable

         13  penalty ranges.

         14                 Intro. No. 711 would clarify the

         15  authority of the ECB to reemphasize what the law

         16  already provides, that it cannot unilaterally direct

         17  its hearing officers to impose anything other than

         18  the full scope of lawful penalties for which

         19  violation contemplated by the Legislature.

         20                 The second item to be considered by

         21  these joint committees is Intro. No. 718, relating

         22  to the Administrative Adjudications Board, or AAB.

         23                 In high school I had a problem with

         24  that word. Adjudications Bill.

         25                 This bill would rename ECB as the AAB
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          2  to better reflect the fact that the body hears a

          3  much broader array of violations than just those of

          4  an environmental nature.

          5                 The balance of the bill goes about

          6  reforming the body in an effort to provide greater

          7  fairness, enhanced due process and more complete and

          8  thorough hearings.

          9                 Examples of reforms contained within

         10  the legislation are:

         11                 - rights to prehearing discovery.

         12                 - right to an interpreter, and if

         13  necessary, the substitution of independent

         14  administrative law judges for the hearing officers

         15  that ECB currently utilizes.

         16                 The four measures contemplated by

         17  Intro. No. 718 are proposed in response to numerous

         18  complaints received by the City Council and a

         19  general public outcry that the ECB hearing process

         20  is broken, and justice is being done a disservice.

         21  The effect is an adverse business environment.

         22                 The bulk of notices of violation

         23  returnable for hearings before the ECB are those

         24  that are issued to businesses, many of them small

         25  businesses, without a fair and complete hearing, the
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          2  imposition of high and sometimes improperly imposed

          3  penalties is common and is harmful to businesses

          4  struggling simply to keep their doors open.

          5                 Intro. No. 718 is a legislative

          6  remedy crafted to help foster a better and fairer

          7  adjudicatory environment for all who appear before

          8  the body, and, of course, especially, in this case,

          9  for small business.

         10                 I want to thank everybody in the

         11  Chambers today for taking the time to come listen

         12  and participate in this very important hearing.

         13                 I would also thank the sponsors of

         14  these two bills, Council Member Jim Gennaro, my

         15  co-chair today, for Intro. No. 711, Council Member

         16  Phil Reed, for Intro. No. 718.

         17                 Your work and dedication in this area

         18  is truly inspiring and I thank you for it.

         19                 Now let us welcome the first panel

         20  from the Administration, and if I have this correct,

         21  which would be Richard Friedman, Executive Director

         22  of the ECB; Mike Moran of the ECB and Charles

         23  Sturcken from DEP.

         24                 Council Member Gennaro. Chair

         25  Gennaro.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chairman.

          4                 Thank you for working with us to hold

          5  this hearing. I greatly appreciate your

          6  comprehensive statement on these two bills. So, I

          7  don't feel the need to make my own statement. I

          8  think you said it as well as anyone possibly could,

          9  and I thank you for that.

         10                 I want to thank the representatives

         11  of the ECB, and, you know, DEP who are here today.

         12  You know, friends from the private sector who are

         13  regulated by the, or have to interact with the ECB,

         14  we look forward to your statement here.

         15                 I would like to recognize also that

         16  we're joined by Council Member Vallone, Council

         17  Member DeBlasio, who is here briefly, Council Member

         18  Felder from the Bronx, Council Member Arroyo, and

         19  we'll be joined by other Council Members from time

         20  to time.

         21                 It is the custom in my committee to

         22  place the witnesses under oath, and, so, I'd like to

         23  ask the Counsel to the Committee, Donna DeCostanzo,

         24  to give the oath and then you can proceed with your

         25  good testimony.
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          2                 Welcome.

          3                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Please raise your

          4  right hand.

          5                 In the testimony that you're about to

          6  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

          7  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          8                 (Witnesses sworn.)

          9                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Thank you.

         10                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Good afternoon, Mr.

         11  Chairman and Committee members. I am Richard

         12  Friedman, the Executive Director of ECB.

         13                 With me is Michael Moran, Deputy

         14  Director of ECB.

         15                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         16  discuss the role and authority that ECB has pursuant

         17  to the Charter and the Rules of the City of New

         18  York.

         19                 Before discussing the two proposed

         20  bills, Intro. 718 and 711, I would like to provide

         21  you with the brief history of ECB.

         22                 Chartered in 1971, ECB is charged

         23  with adjudicating violations of laws and rules

         24  brought before it by the various City agencies

         25  empowered to oversee and maintain the quality of
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          2  life in the City.

          3                 ECB's jurisdiction includes hearing

          4  Sanitation violations, vendor cases, air, water and

          5  noise pollution violations, DOT infractions, and

          6  other very serious health and safety concerns as

          7  addressed in the administrative code, including the

          8  air pollution control code, the noise code, the

          9  building code, the fire prevention code and the

         10  asbestos control code.

         11                 ECB adjudicates approximately 600,000

         12  NOVs per year, from 12 different City agencies. It

         13  does so in a timely, fair and efficient manner.

         14                 Passage of these bills could

         15  seriously impair ECB's effectiveness.

         16                 I must take a moment before going

         17  through the substantive changes to Intro. 718 to

         18  comment on a statement made in the declaration of

         19  findings and intent. You assert in the declaration

         20  that there are alarming practices relating to ECB

         21  adjudications that raise serious questions as to

         22  whether respondents are treated fairly and accorded

         23  due process, and that there are concerns that

         24  outcomes are not always based upon the merits of the

         25  matters adjudicated by the ECB.
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          2                 This is not accurate. The hearing

          3  officers at ECB are experienced attorneys who review

          4  and evaluate all material and evidence brought

          5  before them in a fair and impartial matter.

          6                 With less than one percent of current

          7  decisions now being appealed and with 37 percent of

          8  the cases overall dismissed in favor of the

          9  respondents, it is hard to see how due process is

         10  not being accorded.

         11                 I will now focus on your proposals.

         12  Intro. 718 seeks to change the name of ECB to the

         13  Administrative Adjudications Board.

         14                 While the name ECB derived from the

         15  fact that the first NOVs returnable to it were from

         16  DEP, the term environmental does not only capture

         17  air, noise and water complaints, but encompasses all

         18  quality of life issues in the City.

         19                 Changing the name of ECB would create

         20  administrative and fiscal burdens for very little,

         21  if any, gain.

         22                 Moreover, there are references to the

         23  Environmental Control Board and State Law,

         24  specifically the vehicle and traffic law, the

         25  environmental conservation law, the public
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          2  authorities law, the public health law and the

          3  county law, and there are also over 81 references to

          4  the Environmental Control Board and the ED

          5  (phonetic) code.

          6                 Intro. 718 does not amend any of

          7  these state or local provisions, and all of these

          8  provisions would have to be amended so that

          9  significant confusion and destruction would be

         10  avoided.

         11                 Finally, New York State County Law,

         12  Section 918.4 relates to ECB's docketing power,

         13  which is the key enforcement tool of ECB and

         14  specifically refers to the Environmental Control

         15  Board. Thus, commensurate state legislation may be

         16  required.

         17                 Section 3 of the bill seeks to amend

         18  the structure of ECB by requiring that the Board

         19  appoint a chief administrative law judge who would

         20  then appoint a staff of ALJs.

         21                 These judges would have four-year

         22  terms, and would already have to have been admitted

         23  to practice for five years.

         24                 These changes would fundamentally

         25  alter how ECB now works.
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          2                 We rely on a large pool of per diem

          3  hearing officers, and a relatively small number of

          4  staff attorneys.

          5                 Relying on per diem hearing officers

          6  gives us maximum flexibility. We can staff big cases

          7  with a high number of attorneys quickly without

          8  committing ECB to have a high number of staff

          9  attorneys all year long.

         10                 This system also has budgetary

         11  implications. If we need many attorneys to hear

         12  cases between 2:00 p.m. and 6:00 p.m., we can hire

         13  them for that specific time period.

         14                 We estimate that this would cost us

         15  $1.3 million.

         16                 Section 7 of the bill would require

         17  the agencies issuing a notice of violation to notify

         18  the respondents that he or she has the right to a

         19  witness list and to all documents that issuing

         20  agency intends to use as evidence at the hearing.

         21                 This section would require that

         22  information to be delivered to the respondent at

         23  least two days before the designated hearing's date.

         24                 Section 15 of the Rules of the City

         25  of New York, 31-37, already provide for the
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          2  respondent to request information at least five

          3  business days prior to a scheduled hearing date.

          4                 Requiring the agency to deliver to

          5  the respondent the witness list and copies of

          6  documents to be used at the hearing two days before

          7  the designated hearing date could be very burdensome

          8  for the agencies to comply with.

          9                 In addition, Section 7 as presently

         10  drafted only references the provisions in Ed Co

         11  (phonetic) dealing with the air code, and as such

         12  the provisions would not be applicable to any other

         13  agency.

         14                 Section 8 of the bill would permit a

         15  judge to consolidate two or more notices of

         16  violation for adjudication at one hearing. Pursuant

         17  to 15 rules, City of New York, 31-36, a hearing

         18  officer may already consolidate cases involving the

         19  same or similar issues at one hearing.

         20                 Section 9 of the bill deals with

         21  situations where a respondent appears for the

         22  hearing but the petitioner does not.

         23                 The amendment in this section would

         24  give the respondent a choice between adjourning the

         25  hearing or sitting at the hearing at the same time.
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          2                 At the present time, in the interest

          3  of fairness and justice, a hearing officer will

          4  postpone a hearing suasponte where there exists a

          5  question of fact that can only be answered by the

          6  petitioner.

          7                 Let me also point out that ECB is

          8  generous in giving adjournments to both respondents

          9  and petitioners since ECB wishes to ascertain the

         10  facts and afford all parties an opportunity to

         11  respond fully.

         12                 In effect, ECB has an internal policy

         13  that accords a respondent to reasonable adjudication

         14  time.

         15                 Thus, if the case could not be

         16  decided on its merits and requires the petitioner to

         17  be present, ECB will allow for two adjournments.

         18                 The proposed change of all would

         19  enable the respondent to postpone the case

         20  indefinitely, which would create further backlogs

         21  and would not serve the respondent's best interest

         22  during the interest of justice.

         23                 It is not unusual for a court to have

         24  to adjourn cases for additional information and

         25  witnesses, and ECB's policies are not inconsistent
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          2  with that.

          3                 Indeed, generally in legal settings,

          4  adjournments are traditionally and properly within

          5  the discretion of the deciding judge.

          6                 Parties are not authorized to control

          7  proceedings and indefinitely delay proceedings.

          8                 Section 10 of the bill would provide

          9  that the hearing officer's determination is the

         10  final decision and order on the case.

         11                 It provides that a party need not

         12  exhaust all administrative remedies, such as file an

         13  exception with the board before commencing an

         14  Article 78 proceeding in court.

         15                 The CPLR rule Section 7801 provides

         16  for an Article 78 to be brought only when all other

         17  legal remedies have been exhausted.

         18                 The policy underlining the

         19  requirement of exhaustion is to relieve the courts

         20  of the burden of deciding questions entrusted to an

         21  agency.

         22                 The proposal to make the hearing

         23  officer's determination the final decision of the

         24  Board and to eliminate the requirement that a party

         25  file an exception with the Board disregards the
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          2  policy goals of Article 78.

          3                 As a practical matter, this proposal

          4  would propel many cases to a court system lacking

          5  the resources to deal with them in an efficient

          6  manner.

          7                 Intro. 711. For many violations

          8  adjudicated by the ECB, the Administrative Code

          9  expresses civil penalties as a range between a

         10  minimum and a maximum.

         11                 Obviously, in a proceeding before the

         12  ECB penalty is imposed -- and a penalty is proposed,

         13  the penalty must be a specific amount.

         14                 The ECB has the authority pursuant to

         15  Charter Sections 1404 and 1043 to promulgate rules

         16  that designate specific penalties from within the

         17  range prescribed by the Administrative Code.

         18                 The penalties and the rules

         19  promulgated by ECB were designated after thorough

         20  and thoughtful analysis by the issuing agencies and

         21  the Board.

         22                 Often those specific penalties

         23  designated by the rule exceed the minimum penalty

         24  authorized by law, while, of course, always falling

         25  within the authorized range.
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          2                 Intro. 711 would prohibit the ECB

          3  from promulgating a rule that designated a minimum

          4  penalty that was higher than the minimum penalty

          5  prescribed by the law.

          6                 This would force the ECB to designate

          7  as the penalty to be imposed, the minimum penalty

          8  authorized by law, or to designate a range of

          9  penalties rather than a specific penalty, with the

         10  range beginning with a minimum penalty authorized by

         11  law.

         12                 The former system would result in the

         13  imposition of only the minimum penalty, which often

         14  would not be sufficient to ensure compliance with

         15  the law.

         16                 The proposed system would invest

         17  hearing officers with discretion to impose penalties

         18  within what could be a very large range, the results

         19  that different hearing officers, and there are 150

         20  of them, would impose very different penalties on

         21  persons who had violated the same provision of law.

         22                 While we think the ECB now fairly

         23  adjudicates violations, Intro. 711 would seriously

         24  undermine the perceived and possibly the actual

         25  fairness of ECB adjudications by investing these
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          2  hearing officers with this discretion.

          3                 There must be effective means of

          4  regulating and proceeding disincentives for failure

          5  to comply with existing laws.

          6                 The Council itself has recognized

          7  that important principle.

          8                 For example, in passing Local Law 84

          9  of 1997, the legislative intent states that strong

         10  civil penalty provisions serve as a deterrent to

         11  violations and preserve and advance the public

         12  policy reflected therein.

         13                 The penalty structure adopted by the

         14  Board allows for a fair and meaningful enforcement

         15  that creates disincentives for those who do not

         16  comply with the law, but within the range set forth

         17  by Council in the Administrative Code.

         18                 The penalty structures are revised

         19  periodically after thorough consultation with

         20  enforcement agencies.

         21                 I would also like to take this

         22  opportunity to point out that the way both Intros

         23  are drafted, the Title 24 amendments would only be

         24  applicable to violations of the air code.

         25                 Finally, the Law Department has
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          2  advised us that Intros. 718 and 711 also raised

          3  legal issues, including issues under Section 38 of

          4  the Charter.

          5                 As you know, the Mayor appoints the

          6  members of the ECB. Currently Section 1404 of the

          7  Charter authorizes the ECB to enforce various

          8  provisions of the Charter, Administrative Code and

          9  rules of the City to conduct proceedings for the

         10  adjudication of violations of the laws and the

         11  rules, and enforces to appoint hearing officers to

         12  promulgate rules necessary to carry out its

         13  enforcement authority and to issue final orders

         14  imposing civil penalties for such violations.

         15                 Both bills contain provisions that

         16  abolish, transfer or curtail ECB's powers and by

         17  extension the powers of the Mayor.

         18                 Consequently, the bills are subject

         19  to mandatory referendum under Section 38 of the

         20  Charter.

         21                 I would like to end my testimony by

         22  providing the Council with a list of initiatives

         23  undertaken by ECB.

         24                 Recently ECB has embarked on a

         25  progressive approach to improve the Adjudications
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          2  process for the public.

          3                 Among these improvements are speeding

          4  up the appeals process, allocating additional

          5  resources, specifically additional attorneys and

          6  additional administrative personnel.

          7                 The creation of night courts on

          8  Wednesday. Mail adjudication for respondents whose

          9  defense lend themselves to evidence based on

         10  documents. The growth of ECB to all boroughs. And

         11  training ALJs in various aspects of the law at the

         12  time they are hired and periodic training on the law

         13  when needed.

         14                 Thank you, again, for the chance to

         15  testify on these bills, we will be happy to answer

         16  any questions that you may have.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         18                 Thank you, Mr. Friedman. Thank you

         19  for your comprehensive testimony.

         20                 You know, clearly we disagree on a

         21  lot of things, and I won't belabor it. And I have

         22  some prepared questions that I'll take up with you

         23  now.

         24                 Let me just use the opportunity to

         25  praise you for the last page of your statement,
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          2  about the improvements to ECB. You know, these all

          3  look terrific and, you know, these look great. So,

          4  we'll start there.

          5                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I made some

          7  notes in your statement as I was going through

          8  before I get to my prepared questions.

          9                 And with regard to officers who might

         10  be vested with the power to use their judgement to

         11  impose an appropriate penalty, isn't that what

         12  happens in all kinds of -- that's what being a

         13  judge, that's what being a hearing officer is all

         14  about, to hear the merits of the case and impose

         15  judgment on what the appropriate penalty should be,

         16  based on the facts of the case, based on whether the

         17  person is a repeat offender. I don't think vesting

         18  these kind of powers in hearing officers is

         19  something we should necessarily be afraid of. Isn't

         20  that what they're kind of there for? They're not

         21  there just to say guilty or not guilty, and if

         22  you're guilty you get the cookie-cutter amount and

         23  if you're not guilty you get to go home.

         24                 Certainly if you're not guilty you

         25  get to go home.
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          2                 I think part of the intent here is to

          3  give people an opportunity to plead their case, and,

          4  you know, get some consideration from the hearing

          5  officer. I don't think there is anything wrong with

          6  that, and I'd like you to respond.

          7                 MR. FRIEDMAN: It's the Board's

          8  feeling that the hearing officer's decision is,

          9  whether they are in violation or not in violation as

         10  to the penalty, we believe it is fairer to the

         11  parties for the Board itself to set the penalties

         12  based on the schedule created by the Council.

         13                 We don't want the situation where one

         14  party receives a zero penalty and another party

         15  receives a $300 penalty for the same facts.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: There could be

         17  different circumstances of the case that might lend

         18  a thoughtful hearing officer, or ALJ, to give some

         19  consideration for mitigating circumstances or

         20  whatever the term of art would be.

         21                 So, I think we just disagree with

         22  that.

         23                 And also, help me out a little bit

         24  here, with regard to -- how can I phrase this, you

         25  know, not all violations are the same. It's my
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          2  understanding that some are actually written in the

          3  field by the officer who would enforce, and in some

          4  cases the violation is written with a specific

          5  amount that's done on site, like when the violation

          6  is given or served or whatever. And I think there

          7  are other violations, but a person who is writing a

          8  violation the field would not have knowledge of

          9  whether someone is a one-time, two-time, or

         10  three-time offender of that violation, and could be

         11  -- you're writing it for the minimum when indeed

         12  the person or the entity, being a three time

         13  offender, let's say, should get a bigger penalty

         14  reflecting the fact that they're a repeat offender.

         15  So, that's one kind of violation.

         16                 There's another kind of violation

         17  where you just get the violation, there's no dollar

         18  amount attached to it, and you come into ECB and ECB

         19  looks up whether or not you are one-, two-, or

         20  three-time offender and imposes -- if you can kind

         21  of walk me through that a little bit because I'm

         22  trying to grasp that.

         23                 MR. MORAN: Mike Moran, Deputy

         24  Director --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, it would
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          2  be better if you just put the microphone right up to

          3  your mouth and just hold it, speak directly into it.

          4                 MR. MORAN: Mike Moran, Deputy

          5  Director of the Environmental Control Board.

          6                 The two classes of the violations

          7  you're speaking of are what I'll call "compliance

          8  and non-compliance" violations.

          9                 The non-compliance violations are

         10  typically Department of Sanitation, Department of

         11  Transportation and vending violations.

         12                 When an officer is in the field,

         13  they'll see a condition and they'll issue a

         14  violation.

         15                 In some instances, those violations

         16  have what we'll call a mail-in penalty, where the

         17  respondent is allowed to admit the violation,

         18  whether the penalty is $50 and just mail it in and

         19  not appear at ECB.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         21                 MR. MORAN: There are other classes of

         22  violations that are compliance-oriented, and those

         23  are building and fire code and to some extent air

         24  and noise and asbestos.

         25                 In those instances there's a maximum
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          2  penalty that's imposed. There may be a mail-in

          3  penalty allowed, there may not. For fire violations

          4  there is no mail-in penalty, for building code

          5  violations in some instances there are.

          6                 So, what happens is if the respondent

          7  is not offered a mail-in penalty for the building

          8  code violations, they must appear at ECB. In that

          9  instance, the Department of Buildings will have a

         10  representative on-site at ECB, and will make the

         11  case whether this is a first offense, a second

         12  offense, or a third offense.

         13                 To go back a minute, where you had

         14  mentioned some officers don't have the knowledge of

         15  repeat offenders in the field, the Department of

         16  Sanitation is undertaking a very large initiative to

         17  put hand-held computers in the field so that their

         18  officers in fact will know if it's a first, second

         19  or third offense, and that will be cited on the

         20  notice of violation.

         21                 I hope that answers your question.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, yes. That

         23  certainly gives me a good start.

         24                 But with regard to -- so, right now

         25  at the ECB the only time that someone has imposed a
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          2  penalty that would be associated with a second

          3  violation, third violation and so on, is on those

          4  types of violations, where that has to be looked

          5  into and the person in the field like doesn't make

          6  the judgment, and says that you have to come before

          7  the ECB; is that right?

          8                 MR. MORAN: You're actually asking me

          9  questions that are slightly out of my range. I'm

         10  not, ECB does not have any issuing officers, so I

         11  speak based on my knowledge --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, I see.

         13                 MR. MORAN: -- Knowledge of how ECB

         14  works in certain class of violations.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see.

         16                 MR. MORAN: I'm slightly uncomfortable

         17  going into details of how Department of Sanitation

         18  or Department of Buildings might identify second or

         19  first offenders in the field.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I'm just trying

         21  to figure out how, you know, we as a Council set a

         22  minimum and a maximum penalty, and the idea of a

         23  minimum/maximum penalty, if it's your first offense

         24  you get the minimum, if it's your second, third or

         25  fourth offense, you kind of climb the latter, it's a
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          2  sort of higher levels of penalty. And I'm just

          3  trying to figure out how it works now. Or is it the

          4  case that repeat offenders are, you know, getting

          5  away with paying what is regarded as the minimum

          6  penalty. Let's say that the range set by the Council

          7  is 100 in 1,000, and, you know, ECB has made a

          8  determination that X, Y, Z violation sort of starts

          9  with a, you know, $500, what would be the lowest the

         10  ECB would penalize someone for that. And, so, it

         11  seems to me we may be looking in a situation where a

         12  one-time violator, two-time violator, three-time

         13  violator are all paying $500 and no one is kind of

         14  climbing the ladder, you know, from your minimum to

         15  maximum, which we think is a fair way to go.

         16                 So, tell me if that's really the case

         17  or not or whether or not people are getting

         18  penalties for violation, an they're always paying

         19  the same amount, whether it's first, second or third

         20  violation.

         21                 MR. MORAN: There are second and third

         22  penalties that are imposed at ECB.

         23                 Are you asking me if someone -- if

         24  the case is not made at ECB, that in fact a

         25  respondent is a second offender, and ECB only
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          2  believes it is a first offense, they would only

          3  receive the first offense because there is no

          4  knowledge that ECB has that this is in fact a second

          5  offense.

          6                 MR. FRIEDMAN: But there is a bump --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, go head.

          8  What was that?

          9                 MR. FRIEDMAN: I was just going to say

         10  that there is a bump up for a second or third

         11  offense when that happens.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right. We just

         13  want to make sure what we envision here, and I won't

         14  belabor, what we're trying to get at is in a very

         15  efficient system where the penalized first offender

         16  is the minimum amount, there is some way of figuring

         17  out whether a second or third or fourth offender and

         18  we have an ECB that sort of climbs the ladder with

         19  these people and, you know, punishes them, and we're

         20  adding on a layer where, you know, we should have

         21  hearing officers or ALJs that could take into

         22  consideration mitigating circumstances, and make

         23  judgments on their feet, as is common in all other

         24  kinds of proceedings like that.

         25                 It's not a question, it's really more
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          2  of a statement.

          3                 Let me get to my questions prepared

          4  by staff for me. Where civil penalties are imposed

          5  by the ECB hearing officers or by the Board itself,

          6  may the individual or board conducting the hearing

          7  exercise -- may the individual or the Board

          8  conducting the hearing exercise complete discretion

          9  to impose any penalty within the lawful statutory

         10  penalty range for the offense found to have been

         11  committed.

         12                 I think we already discussed that.

         13  You know, I don't want to answer for you, but go

         14  ahead.

         15                 MR. FRIEDMAN: The answer is no.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: If not, please

         17  explain why the finer of fact is not allowed to

         18  employ the full gamut of rules to impose penalties

         19  granted so clearly by the Legislature. We kind of

         20  did that, too, but go ahead.

         21                 MR. FRIEDMAN: It's our belief that a

         22  fairer system is a penalty that's known by all,

         23  rather than having different hearing officers give

         24  different penalty amounts for the same offense.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.
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          2                 One moment. We're just looking for a

          3  good one.

          4                 Okay, we think we got a good one.

          5  Okay.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: We're sifting out

          7  what's not important.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, nice

          9  questions.

         10                 Hearing officers are employed on a

         11  per diem basis, correct? But you've already answered

         12  that, that is the case.

         13                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Most are, not all.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What's that?

         15                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Most are employed on a

         16  per diem basis.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         18                 Their performance then would be

         19  evaluated by ECB and then used to dictate whether

         20  they are given additional per diem assignments; is

         21  that right?

         22                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         24                 Does this not mean that if they fail

         25  to comply with the letter of each directive, they
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          2  will not get additional work?

          3                 The directive, I don't think we

          4  talked about directives so far. Which would be the

          5  directive to impose a certain penalty for a certain,

          6  for a certain offense.

          7                 So, then if they fail to comply with

          8  the letter of each directive, they will not get

          9  additional work; is that fair to say?

         10                 MR. MORAN: I wouldn't characterize it

         11  that way.

         12                 I would point out that the ALJ, that

         13  in fact they imposed an incorrect penalty, and I

         14  would guess that after that they would impose the

         15  appropriate penalty for the statute.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, does this

         17  new preclude them from exercising the discretion

         18  they were supposed to be vested in?

         19                 Does this not preclude them from

         20  exercising discretion that they were supposed to be

         21  vested in with year to -- yes, we did that.

         22                 What is the number of the per diem

         23  hearing officers, and I guess and hearing officers

         24  that are on your regular payroll?

         25                 MR. MORAN: Twelve full-time civil
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          2  service attorneys, and if you do a full-time

          3  equivalent, it works out to 61 full-time equivalent

          4  ALJs. We draw from a roster of about 150 to 170 ALJs

          5  at any time.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see. Okay,

          7  thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Just in pre trial

          9  testimony, or discovery rather, and I'm just

         10  touching upon it, just clarification of what

         11  Councilman Gennaro was asking before, would it come

         12  up on the screen, in other words, the institution's,

         13  the store's history to show if they are really an

         14  obnoxious offender, repeat offender, and a fine

         15  could be administered accordingly?

         16                 MR. MORAN: For the new hand-held

         17  violations that are going to be implemented by the

         18  Department of Sanitation, that is in fact correct.

         19                 They will have a geographical

         20  boundary and within that geographical boundary for a

         21  specific violation codes, for the sanitation code

         22  they would indicate whether it was a first, second

         23  or third offense.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: And you work with

         25  DCA as well, and it goes to ECB in many cases?
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          2                 MR. MORAN: Certain classes of

          3  Department of Consumer Affair violations, mostly as

          4  they relate to vendors, come to the Environmental

          5  Control Board.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: And if DCA

          7  through you comes up that they've had, this store

          8  has had eight violations, by the time it does get

          9  adjudicated, they would have this information at all

         10  times in front of them to know that this is really

         11  an offensive store?

         12                 MR. MORAN: Stores do not come to ECB

         13  for the Department of Consumer Affair violations.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: They do not.

         15                 MR. MORAN: No. Only food vendor --

         16  I'm sorry, general vendor violations issued by DCA

         17  or on DCA's authority would come to ECB.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Okay. So, that we

         19  have to look into, because the overall concept is

         20  extremely important that when one poor guy or gal

         21  gets, only violated the law once or twice, but

         22  another person is really a repeat offender, that

         23  they should be it. We're not suggesting that store

         24  should not be penalized if they do not, they're not

         25  in accord with our codes.
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          2                 MR. MORAN: For Department of Consumer

          3  Affairs, ECB does not deal with those class of

          4  violations.

          5                 For vendors, however, there is a

          6  multiple offense schedule, and there's a range of

          7  penalties that are put on the notice of violation,

          8  and when a respondent, and a person received a

          9  violation comes to the Environmental Control Board,

         10  we do have on our computer screen how many

         11  violations they would receive, so we would assess a

         12  first, second, third, fourth or fifth or sixth

         13  offense penalty.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Okay, thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. I

         16  know we're coming at you from both directions here.

         17  It's like crossfire or whatever.

         18                 You've already stated that the people

         19  who are hired as a hearing officer are lawyers, but

         20  in addition to be lawyers, for certain types of

         21  cases, do they have other kinds of skills like

         22  architectural, engineering or some kind of, you

         23  know, added expertise that might render them better

         24  able to come to a decision or a judgment on certain

         25  types of violations?
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          2                 MR. MORAN: For the most part they're

          3  just attorneys. They're required to have three

          4  years' experience prior to working at the

          5  Environmental Control Board.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

          7                 MR. MORAN: Admitted to the bar for

          8  three years, I should say.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         10                 MR. MORAN: And I would like to point

         11  out that as in all businesses and organizations,

         12  that the better ALJs eventually end up hearing the

         13  more complicated types of cases, such as the

         14  building code and fire code.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What happens is

         16  an ALJ who is hired at ECB will start out in a

         17  training session, for a two-day very intense

         18  training session of ECB policies, practices and

         19  procedures, they are then teamed with a very senior

         20  ECB ALJ and for about ten or 12 sessions, depending

         21  on how many they need, where that ALJ, the senior

         22  ALJ will sit with a junior ALJ and watch that ALJ

         23  conduct a hearing to make certain that they follow

         24  appropriate practices and procedures that you're

         25  required to, you know, state your name, go on the
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          2  record for the notice of violations, so on and so

          3  forth.

          4                 We have also conducted trainings with

          5  our ALJs on various aspects of the law, specifically

          6  the Department of Transportation issues that have

          7  come up, and we've also worked with them most

          8  recently on developing better decision writing so

          9  that respondents who actually receive the decisions,

         10  know what happened, why they were found in

         11  violation, and issues like that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         13                 In your response just now you were

         14  referring to the hearing officers as "ALJs," are

         15  they indeed ALJs?

         16                 MR. MORAN: You got me. We use it as a

         17  form of courtesy at the Environmental Control Board.

         18  They are, in fact, hearing officers.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see. Okay.

         20                 MR. MORAN: You know, I've been in the

         21  ECB for awhile, so I switch back and forth.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         23                 MR. MORAN: If you'd like, I could

         24  just use the hearing officers.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I was just
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          2  looking for a clarification. That's fine.

          3                 Okay, does ECB provide language

          4  interpreters for parties that have English language

          5  deficiency, or problems in communicating in English?

          6                 I'm having problems communicating in

          7  English.

          8                 MR. MORAN: Typically what happens is

          9  a respondent comes to the Environmental Control

         10  Board and does not have an interpreter, we will ask

         11  in the waiting room if there's anybody who could

         12  interpret that specific language.

         13                 If, in fact, there is, we will ask

         14  that individual to come in and interpret at the

         15  hearing.

         16                 If there is no one who is available

         17  to interpret at the hearing, we will adjourn the

         18  case so that the respondent may go get an

         19  interpreter of their choice.

         20                 Typically they'll bring back a family

         21  member or a friend.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         23                 MR. MORAN: So that's how we handle

         24  that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.
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          2                 MR. MORAN: We do not go forward at

          3  all. If there is a clear evidence that the

          4  respondent does not understand the proceedings or

          5  what's on the notice of violation, we would never go

          6  forward.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

          8                 Does the ECB honor requests from

          9  parties to consolidate notices of violations that

         10  are similar in content or involve the same party?

         11                 This is part two. If so, please

         12  describe how this is done.

         13                 If not, please describe why the

         14  sufficient practice that gives convenience to the

         15  parties would not be followed.

         16                 MR. MORAN: Typically a respondent

         17  knows when they've received multiple classes of

         18  violations. They have three or four Building Code

         19  violations and they will call us up and ask if they

         20  can consolidate their cases.

         21                 As long as the violation was issued

         22  for building class and fire classes was issued in

         23  the same borough, we will entertain that request and

         24  consolidate cases. And also, at a hearing, if a

         25  respondent says I have additional violations that I
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          2  would like to consolidate, we will entertain those

          3  requests, if they're in fact eligible for a hearing.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right. And what

          5  would prompt them to make the request for

          6  consolidation is that they get different notices to

          7  appear for different violations?

          8                 So, they have all these different

          9  notices and they call you up, say, look, I got a

         10  bunch of things here spaced a week apart, could I

         11  just kind of come in?

         12                 MR. MORAN: We're more than happy to

         13  do that because it helps us out as much as it helps

         14  the respondent. It's a better use of hearing officer

         15  time, and it's a better use of our administrative

         16  staff time.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         18                 Please inform the Committee of the

         19  extent to which partners are allowed to engage in

         20  discovery.

         21                 Do you believe that the status quo is

         22  sufficient to allow the parties, particularly

         23  respondents, the opportunity pre-hearing to properly

         24  prepare their cases?

         25                 I sound like a lawyer, but I'm not.
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          2                 MR. MORAN: Neither am I.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

          4                 MR. MORAN: I'm also told from time to

          5  time that I sound like an attorney.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

          7                 MR. MORAN: I would say a good

          8  two-thirds of the violations that we received have

          9  all of the information a respondent would need.

         10                 Department of Sanitation violations

         11  have the prima facie case on that notice of

         12  violation.

         13                 In instances where, if a building

         14  code or fire code or air and noise code, there may

         15  be supplemental information.

         16                 Our rules allow for a request to the

         17  issuing agencies for that information, and I know as

         18  a matter of course that is done.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         20                 MR. MORAN: That requests are filed

         21  and the agencies would respond.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         23                 Okay, we're getting close. It is our

         24  understanding that a member of the ECB board may be

         25  designated to hear the initial hearing and may then
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          2  participate in the review of his or her decision on

          3  appeal to the ECB Board itself.

          4                 Is this not unfair to have the

          5  individual who made the determination that is

          6  subject of the appeal part of the panel reviewing

          7  the appeal? Should this not be changed as a measure

          8  of fairness to those appearing before the ECB?

          9                 MR. FRIEDMAN: That never happens.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: That never

         11  happened?

         12                 MR. FRIEDMAN: No.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         14                 MR. MORAN: If you'd like a brief

         15  explanation of how an appeal would come about, I

         16  would be happy to provide that for you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: No, it's okay. I

         18  want to just keep rolling.

         19                 Okay, here's a good one.

         20                 Do you believe that the ECB is in

         21  need of reform? Please list the three most pressing

         22  areas that you believe the ECB needs to change in

         23  order to engender greater trust from the public and

         24  to instill greater confidence in this processes and

         25  decision making.
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          2                 You kind of went through some reforms

          3  in the last statement of your testimony, but if you

          4  want to add to that, please do.

          5                 MR. FRIEDMAN: One of the things we'd

          6  like to work on is to decrease --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: If you could

          8  speak right into the microphone.

          9                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Sure.

         10                 One of the things we're working on

         11  and we'd like to improve is to decrease the waiting

         12  time people have for both hearings and for appeals.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         14                 MR. FRIEDMAN: So I guess that's two

         15  things.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What is the

         17  average waiting time? Could we have some sense of

         18  what the average waiting time is when you're at ECB?

         19                 MR. MORAN: That's a difficult -- we

         20  don't have an easy way of measuring that.

         21                 We used to measure it on a routine

         22  basis, but due to staff cuts that had to go away.

         23                 We do have in the future hopes of a

         24  computer system that will track that for us. But

         25  we'll tell you that everybody who comes in at 8:30
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          2  is typically out by 12 or 1:00, the absolute latest.

          3                 So, sometimes the waiting time might

          4  be an hour, sometimes it might be two hour.

          5                 It can be deceiving because what

          6  happens is the notice of violation can have a

          7  specific time where you're supposed to come in, so

          8  if a respondent doesn't abide by that, they may end

          9  up waiting a much longer time than they need to

         10  because they're waiting two hours before their

         11  actual calendar call would have been heard.

         12                 MR. FRIEDMAN: We would like to

         13  stagger those times a little more in the future.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         15                 According to the FY 2005 Mayor

         16  Management Report, the case resolution rate at ECB

         17  was 68.3 percent in FY '01, 77 percent in FY '02,

         18  99.2 percent in FY '03. That's the biggest year,

         19  99.2. Then back down to 71 percent in FY '04, and 66

         20  percent in FY '05.

         21                 Please explain how such a number as

         22  the 99.2 resolution rate had been achieved in FY '03

         23  as compared to much lower rates in all the other

         24  years reported.

         25                 Also, please explain why the FY '05
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          2  resolution rate of 66 percent is the lowest rate of

          3  any year reported.

          4                 MR. MORAN: You saved the best for

          5  last, I hope.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: See, we're good.

          7                 MR. MORAN: The MMR that you're siting

          8  is specific to DEP related violations, so it is a

          9  very, very small snapshot of the violations that ECB

         10  handles.

         11                 The overall resolution rate of ECB is

         12  around 71 percent in the seventies.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So these numbers

         14  that are reported here for FY '01 through FY '05 are

         15  just for the DEP?

         16                 MR. MORAN: I believe they are just

         17  for DEP. As I recall looking at them the other day.

         18                 What happens is because there is a

         19  small subset of violations you're dealing with, that

         20  a blip in any particular way we look at a violation,

         21  such as the number of dismissals that we would enter

         22  the number of payments that would come in.

         23                 For example, if you look at sort of a

         24  stream of violations, it's a one year for DEP, we

         25  received 5,000 violations. Another year we received
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          2  3,000 or 4,000. So what happens is that violations

          3  that may have existed in previous years, in 2000,

          4  might be resolved in 2001 which would affect the

          5  resolution rate in a particular year.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

          7  you.

          8                 Do you have anything?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: No, I just want

         10  to work with Richard. And Charles I worked with

         11  quite often in the past, and Mike for testifying,

         12  and for opening the hearing board in other boroughs

         13  as well. It has been a tremendous help in many of

         14  our businesses. So, I think that should be mentioned

         15  as well.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And I wish to

         17  thank you as well for your testimony and your

         18  responses to questions. And I guess you'll be back

         19  at the second part of the hearing when this is --

         20  the first part of the hearing on these two bills is

         21  -- oh, okay. These two bills were join referred to

         22  my Committee and Mike's Committee, but there is a

         23  second part of the hearing where bills were not

         24  jointly referred, they're just referred to small

         25  business.
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          2                 So, thank you. Thank you very much.

          3                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: And testifying on

          5  Intro. 718, is Mr. Francis McArdle here, please?

          6                 Okay, would you please identify

          7  yourself for the record. Then you can commence after

          8  that.

          9                 MS. FARBER: Good morning. My name is

         10  Felice Farber. I'm here today to read into the

         11  testimony Frank McArdle's comments.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: I'm sorry, the

         13  name was?

         14                 MS. FARBER: Felice Farber.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you.

         16                 MS. FARBER: And I'm here to read

         17  comments on behalf of Frank McArdle.

         18                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         19  address the Committee today on Intro. 718.

         20                 The General Contractors Association

         21  since 1909 has represented the heavy construction

         22  industry active in New York City.

         23                 Our members are engaged in the

         24  construction and reconstruction of New York City's

         25  infrastructure. Our members and those contractors
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          2  that contribute to the heavy construction industry

          3  fund receive many summonses that are adjudicated by

          4  the Environmental Control Board through the course

          5  of their business in New York City.

          6                 Their view of the functioning and

          7  fairness of the board is a very negative one.

          8                 The GCA has testified before the

          9  Council on the unfairness and arbitrariness of the

         10  actions of the ECB, most of which are forced on the

         11  ECB by existing law and legislation.

         12                 We applaud the first steps that the

         13  Council is taking in seeking to address some of the

         14  grievous and unfair practices that the ECB must

         15  follow under existing mandates.

         16                 Allowing the consolidation to one

         17  case for a contractor with multiple violations saves

         18  time and money. Providing for discovery rights

         19  allows contractors the opportunity to examine the

         20  evidence before the case is heard and mount a

         21  defense.

         22                 Permitting the appeal of decisions

         23  directly to Civil Court, without first having to

         24  exhaust all administrative remedies, will allow for

         25  a fair and timely appellate process.
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          2                 Allowing the hearings to move forward

          3  within one hour of the scheduled hearing time,

          4  regardless of whether the issuing officer has

          5  appeared, saves time and provides a fair opportunity

          6  to be heard.

          7                 Each of these items is a significant

          8  improvement towards the fairness of the adjudicatory

          9  process of the ECB.

         10                 Nevertheless, a couple of issues

         11  remain and we respectfully request that the Council

         12  incorporate these items into Intro. 718.

         13                 First, ALJs or hearing officers

         14  should be required to complete a yearly training

         15  program.

         16                 Presently there does not seem to be

         17  any consistent expertise among all the hearing

         18  officers regarding the codes and about activity at

         19  construction sites.

         20                 For example, engineers or inspectors

         21  from DDC or DEP frequently give specific orders to

         22  contractors that result in the issuance of an NOV by

         23  a DOT inspector to the contractor who is simply

         24  following City directions.

         25                 The NOV is then upheld by the ALJ. A
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          2  ticket is issued for an infraction, such as blocking

          3  fire hydrants when the contractor is actually in the

          4  process of installing new fire hydrants.

          5                 Training for the ALJs or hearing

          6  officers about items such as the construction

          7  process, the role of the City's on-site inspector,

          8  and the types of permits issued would help to

          9  alleviate the presumption of guilt by ALJs in

         10  sustaining of patently unfair NOVs. We would be

         11  willing to assist with the training as regard to

         12  construction.

         13                 Second, all summonses are sent to the

         14  Secretary of State, who then forwards the summonses

         15  to the company's registered agent for service of

         16  process.

         17                 A copy of the summons is often not

         18  left with the field office of the violator. As a

         19  result, it can take upwards of a month after the

         20  violation for the contractor to obtain notice. In

         21  the meantime, if a safety hazard exists, the

         22  contractor is not informed of the problem in a

         23  timely manner, and is not able to take corrective

         24  action.

         25                 Contractors can then accrue multiple
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          2  summonses for the same violation before they ever

          3  receive notification that a problem exists.

          4                 And finally, because of the delay in

          5  receiving Notices of Violation, conditions may have

          6  changed thereby preventing the contractor from

          7  adequately investigating the situation and compiling

          8  evidence for a defense.

          9                 We would like the Council to require

         10  that summonses on all City construction contracts,

         11  and those of other public agencies, be delivered to

         12  the agency supervising the project if job site

         13  service cannot be effectuated.

         14                 This requirement should speed notice

         15  to the contractor of any safety issues that need

         16  immediate remedy.

         17                 I look forward to the opportunity to

         18  work closely with the Council on addressing these

         19  concerns.

         20                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         21  comment today.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         23  you very much for your testimony.

         24                 I was listening with great interest

         25  with regard about the summonses or the violations
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          2  not being delivered to the on-site people, and that

          3  cascading into a lot of problems. And I just want to

          4  direct counsel to take a look at that recommendation

          5  to see what w can do with regard to that.

          6                 And I have always appreciated the

          7  great relationship that this body has always had

          8  with the general contractors and as we take these

          9  bills down the tracks it will be part and parcel of

         10  what we do here. So we appreciate your input and

         11  we'll look forward to additional conversations on

         12  this, on this topic.

         13                 MS. FARBER: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you very

         16  much. Appreciate your testimony.

         17                 Also, the Chair recognizes Robert

         18  Bookman, and Richard. Together, sure. And Richard

         19  Lipsky. To make it official, when you get to the

         20  panel please identify yourselves for the record.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Also, if you

         22  have statements, you can give them to the Sergeant.

         23                 Sergeant.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: As a matter of

         25  fact, we have three chairs there, if Sean Basinski
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          2  would like to join the panel too? Sure.

          3                 MR. LIPSKY: Mr. Chairman --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Before you

          5  start, we failed to, you know, swear in Ms. Farber,

          6  so that's fine. But it is a policy of the Committee

          7  to swear in all of the witnesses. It was just a

          8  lapse on my part with regard to Ms. Farber.

          9                 So, Donna DeCostanzo will give the

         10  oath, and then you can proceed.

         11                 I did believe you, Ms. Farber. I do

         12  believe you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: You have an

         14  honest face.

         15                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Please raise your

         16  right hand.

         17                 In the testimony that you're about to

         18  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         19  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         20                 (Witnesses sworn.)

         21                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. So, I

         23  guess in whatever order in which to proceed, and if

         24  there are statements coming around from the Sergeant

         25  --
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          2                 MR. LIPSKY: In the spirit of the --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Did you have a

          4  statement, Richard?

          5                 MR. LIPSKY: Yes, I want to keep this

          6  until I'm finished with it.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, fine.

          8                 MR. LIPSKY: But in the spirit of ECB,

          9  I brought Rob Bookman as my interpreter.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         11                 MR. LIPSKY: But I'll let him start.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I know that you

         13  speak each other's language.

         14                 MR. BOOKMAN: I wish the Director and

         15  Deputy Director had stayed because I am not quite

         16  sure that we are both living in the same legal

         17  world, and I would like to have them to have heard

         18  my comments.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I have it here,

         20  forgive me.

         21                 MR. BOOKMAN: I have a statement.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         23                 MR. BOOKMAN: Good afternoon. I am

         24  Robert Bookman. I am appearing today in support of

         25  Intro. 711 and 718, as a representative of a number
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          2  of business groups, including the 1,000-member for

          3  the Chapter of New York State Restaurant

          4  Association, the 250-member New York Nightlife

          5  Association, and the New York City Newsstand

          6  Operators Association, as well as the attorney for

          7  many individual small business owners.

          8                 The message I have been asked to

          9  convey is simple and straightforward. The small

         10  business community of this City, the lifeblood of

         11  our neighborhoods is united in support of these

         12  bills.

         13                 Intro. 711 is perhaps the most

         14  significant piece of the legislation in the group of

         15  bills being considered today, in that it clarifies

         16  once and for all that the Council makes the laws and

         17  it is the job of administrative agencies to carry

         18  out those laws.

         19                 This basic civics lesson seems to

         20  have been forgotten by the ECB. As any law student

         21  who has taken a course in administrative law can

         22  tell you, an agency cannot promulgate regulations

         23  which either contradict the authorizing law or

         24  exceed the scope of the law, that is exactly what

         25  they have done, I will digress from my prepared
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          2  comments, on 711.

          3                 That's exactly what they have done by

          4  first instructing their ALJs, and until Mr.

          5  Bosinski's group caught them and went to court and

          6  the judge said you cannot do that, then promulgating

          7  regulations which superseded the range of penalties

          8  which you, the City Council, has made available in

          9  the various statute.

         10                 What the ECB has done, despite clear

         11  statements from this Council, that they were

         12  exceeding their authority, is to go ahead and

         13  promulgate regulations which exceeded their

         14  authority.

         15                 When this Council passes a law with a

         16  range of fines, the full range of that law must be

         17  available to the administrative judge when the case

         18  is decided. ECB has no right to reduce that range.

         19                 Determining the appropriate fine by

         20  taking all the circumstances into consideration,

         21  frankly, is often the entire purpose of the hearing.

         22                 This intro makes it clear that the

         23  law, as passed by the Council, is supreme, and I

         24  find, frankly, that the testimony that you heard

         25  today from ECB on this point to be a little bit
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          2  disingenuous, I'm afraid to say.

          3                 They argue that they do not want --

          4  that they want to have the power through regulations

          5  to raise the minimum so as to have uniformity of

          6  fines.

          7                 Well, the two issues are completely

          8  separate. You can have a uniformity of fines by

          9  instructing all of your ALJs on the first violation

         10  to institute the minimum. That's uniform. But what

         11  they have done is not choose to have uniform fines.

         12  What they have done to do is to keep away the

         13  statutory minimum time after time.

         14                 When I go on let's say a noise

         15  hearing, and I present sufficient evidence which the

         16  judge takes into consideration and the judge says,

         17  you know, as a result of all the circumstances that

         18  you have raised, I am going to impose the minimum

         19  and then I get a fine which is above, and it's a

         20  first-time violation, and I get fined which is above

         21  the statutory minimum - with all due respect, that's

         22  not the minimum. And that's what happens. That's the

         23  real world. So, they are not, you know, if they are

         24  concerned about varying penalties for a first

         25  offense, and again make the minimum the minimum, but
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          2  you have to be able to start and that's what the

          3  next bill does, with judges that you can rely on who

          4  are experienced as judges, their judges are hearing

          5  officers, they tend to be individuals who are

          6  between jobs and are looking for some per diem work,

          7  or they're retired individuals looking for some per

          8  diem work. They need to be able to have the

          9  wherewithal, the sahos (phonetic), as we say in law

         10  school, to figure out, you know, what the

         11  circumstances are and apply the appropriate penalty.

         12                 I was the Director of Adjudication

         13  with the Department of Consumer Affairs, you know, 4

         14  million years ago. I understand the importance in

         15  having a certain amount of uniformity in penalties,

         16  but not at the result, at the risk of taking away

         17  the entire discretion from the judges, which is what

         18  we have now. We can have a computer screen instead

         19  of an ALJ under those circumstances.

         20                 As to Intro. 718, it will also go a

         21  long way to guarantee that hearings at ECB are not

         22  only fair and meet minimum standards of due process,

         23  but equally important will ensure the appearance of

         24  fairness.

         25                 That's so important in the business
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          2  community, given that ECB handles so many cases. The

          3  600,000 cases they said that they handled, just

          4  think of that number, makes it one of the largest

          5  court systems in the nation. Yet, the protections we

          6  all demand and expect in our court systems do not

          7  exist at ECB.

          8                 This bill will help correct that. The

          9  four-year terms for ALJs will provide a degree of

         10  judicial independence. It is not acceptable for them

         11  to simply say that out of 150 to 170 per diem pool,

         12  60 plus full-time equivalent, they only have 12

         13  full-time civil service people, because it provides

         14  them the maximum flexibility.

         15                 From our side of the table, maximum

         16  flexibility equals maximum pressure. And you do not

         17  -- and you must tow the line if you want to

         18  continue getting those per diem assignments.

         19                 They said it would cost $1.3 million

         20  to have professional ALJs that have a term, that

         21  have civil service protection, that seems a small

         22  cost to pay when the ECB assesses over $90 million a

         23  year in fines against our small businesses, if 1.3

         24  million of that 90 million goes to assure

         25  professionalism and due process, I say that's money
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          2  well spent.

          3                 The other protections that 718 will

          4  ensure, such as the right of discovery and to have

          5  that discovery provided to you in a timely manner?

          6  That's the whole point of discovery, is to get it in

          7  advance prior to the date of the hearing. And at

          8  most of their violations, the entire material is the

          9  NOV, well, we could certainly make a technical

         10  correction to the bill and say discovery shall be

         11  available when there are documents other than simply

         12  the NOV, so as not to be a delaying tactic, and

         13  where there are documents other than the NOV, and I

         14  want them in advance, and I want them -- I don't

         15  want them the day of the hearing, I want to view

         16  them in advance, go over them with my client, so we

         17  can prepare an appropriate defense.

         18                 The right to an interpreter? It is a

         19  shame when you sit at ECB and they come out, the ALJ

         20  comes out and says anybody here speak Spanish?

         21  Anybody here speak Yiddish? Anybody here speak

         22  Korean? It is offensive to me as an attorney that

         23  that is the court system that the public is being

         24  most exposed to.

         25                 They should have interpreters. In a
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          2  multi-cultural, multi-ethnic, multi-language City

          3  like the City of New York, they should have

          4  interpreters, and I think Mr. Bosinski will testify

          5  that he's personally aware of situations where the

          6  case does proceed, even though the person obviously

          7  does not speak sufficient English, because they've

          8  already spent a half a day there and they don't want

          9  to come back for another half a day. They're losing

         10  money by being there. They shut down their business,

         11  or they're paying extra employee time. So, it's not

         12  fair to simply say, well, you can come back.

         13                 The right to immediate judicial

         14  review by the courts is a badly needed reform

         15  because it takes sometimes three plus years to get

         16  your appeal decided.

         17                 I've recently received appeals that

         18  frankly, I didn't know what the case was about. I

         19  didn't remember the name of the case. And I had to

         20  find, go to my closed storage facility to find the

         21  files just to realize that it was an ECB appeal that

         22  we had decided.

         23                 All that time, of course, they have

         24  your money, you have to pay the fine in order to

         25  pursue the appeal. There is no interest that you
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          2  receive, to my knowledge, you know, upon winning the

          3  appeal. But more importantly, you've been

          4  adjudicated to be a violator, and I want a fast

          5  judicial process, and let the court system worry

          6  about the volume of cases that will go to court, not

          7  ECB.

          8                 If my client wants to spend the money

          9  to go to an immediate review because they don't want

         10  to wait and be considered a repeat violator for the

         11  next three years until they can get an appeal done,

         12  that should be our business, and we should have that

         13  option available to us. This bill would give us that

         14  option. That's why it's so beautiful.

         15                 If I want to appeal through the ECB

         16  system, I can. If I want to go directly to a real

         17  judge, I can do that as well.

         18                 The other points, I just made a quick

         19  few notes about some of the points that they said.

         20  The Charter sections that they cited to you with the

         21  big hammer that, you know, you're insulting the

         22  Mayor's powers if you pass this, you know, the fear,

         23  is pure nonsense. I mean, I don't have the Charter

         24  sections in front of me, but if you can't pass this

         25  legislation that says that they must have a full
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          2  range of penalties available to you, then I guess

          3  you don't have the right to pass the initial

          4  legislation which makes it a violation and gives

          5  them authority to hold the hearings in the first

          6  place. So, let's start from scratch. Let's end the

          7  administrative tribunals and send all the cases back

          8  to Criminal Court with pink summonses, like they

          9  once were, before ECB was created. You can't have

         10  one without the other.

         11                 The consolidation that they

         12  discussed? Again, half the story. Yes, they will

         13  allow consolidations, but if you have the nerve to

         14  plead not guilty and you actually want the

         15  inspectors there, you could only be consolidated if

         16  those inspectors are assigned to be at ECB on the

         17  same day of the week which is often not the case.

         18  So, you can't consolidate. You get a violation one

         19  day, you get a violation another day, rather than

         20  knock it off both one day, you have to come back

         21  twice, unless you want to wave the appearance of the

         22  inspector, in which case you get to the issue of, I

         23  can go into one of the most important parts of your

         24  legislation, your right for a respondent to have a

         25  hearing in a timely manner on the day that they have
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          2  scheduled the hearing.

          3                 We have not scheduled a hearing on

          4  that day. They have scheduled. The inspectors have

          5  scheduled a hearing on that day. They should be

          6  there to conduct the hearing.

          7                 If we don't show up we're defaulted

          8  and we're found automatically guilty based on the

          9  four corners of the NOV.

         10                 If they don't show up, it's an

         11  adjournment. And it's an abusive system that

         12  encourages innocent businesses to plead guilty

         13  because then they don't have to come back a second

         14  time. And I could tell you what when you stand at

         15  ECB, I've heard ECB officials stand up in the

         16  beginning and say, if you don't want to come back a

         17  second time, then plead guilty. You know, we can get

         18  you out of here quicker.

         19                 Well, with all due respect, my

         20  clients are all not guilty. That's why they're my

         21  clients. We don't want to plead guilty. We want our

         22  day in court. They picked the day. We didn't pick

         23  the day. We're there. We're ready to proceed. I'm

         24  prepared to wait for an hour for their inspector to

         25  show up. You could wait an hour or a day, their

                                                            65

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  inspector is not showing up. The game that these

          3  agencies, it's not ECB's fault, because they don't

          4  control the enforcement, the game these agencies

          5  play is issue a lot of summonses, do not send your

          6  inspector the day of the hearing, and chances are

          7  the person will plead guilty and will never have to

          8  come.

          9                 That's the other side of the story

         10  that they were not telling you in their testimony.

         11  And, quite frankly, as an officer, as somebody who

         12  had worked in City government for five years as a

         13  Director of Adjudication, who truly believed in

         14  adjudication, independent adjudication, who now has

         15  been in private practice 19 years, the system,

         16  Councilmen, has become abusive, and we need to start

         17  thinking about bills like this that create a level

         18  of professionalism like OATH.

         19                 If you want to see what a

         20  professional administrative tribunal is, go to OATH,

         21  and then go to ECB, or the Health Department or

         22  Consumer Affairs and see the differences in what

         23  businesses have come to except as their day in

         24  court.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

          3                 You know what? Maybe we'll take all

          4  the statements and we'll ask our questions. I'd like

          5  to indicate that we're joined by Council Member

          6  James from Brooklyn.

          7                 Thank you. Thank you, Mr. Bookman.

          8  We'll come back for questions or comments.

          9                 Richard.

         10                 MR. BOOKMAN: And thank you for

         11  providing me with more than two minutes because I

         12  would have burst if you limited me to two minutes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: No, we don't

         14  have people on the clock today.

         15                 Richard.

         16                 MR. LIPSKY: Thank you, Councilman.

         17  The problem --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: If you could

         19  just identify yourself.

         20                 MR. LIPSKY: Yes. My name is Richard

         21  Lipsky. I represent the Neighborhood Retail Alliance

         22  and constituent groups that are really interested,

         23  who are part of the Neighborhood Retail Alliance,

         24  the Bodega Association, the Great American Small

         25  Business Association, the Food-Based Group, which is
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          2  500 small stores that are operating under the aegis

          3  of Jetro Cash-n-Carry.

          4                 The problem of following Rob is kind

          5  of like what GaGa Gabor's seventh husband once said,

          6  which is, "I know what to do but how do you make it

          7  interesting."

          8                 Rob is really a resident expert on

          9  administrative law proceedings, and I think that

         10  what the Council should be doing going forward, this

         11  is a first step, and pardon us in the small business

         12  community if we get the impression somewhat that

         13  it's as useful as rearranging the deck chairs on the

         14  Titanic, because of the climate that the

         15  Administration has created over the last four years

         16  vis-a-vis small business. And I refer to a report

         17  that I will submit for the record that was done by

         18  the Citizens' Budget Commission and the Federal

         19  Reserve Bank, which is the dire circumstances under

         20  which small business is operating in the City of New

         21  York. And much of that has to do with regulatory

         22  policy. And if you listen to Rob and you contrast

         23  this testimony with that of the ECB folks, you

         24  really do, as Rob said, feel as if you are living in

         25  two different worlds.
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          2                 One would think that it's the world

          3  of Kafka that you're dealing with situations where

          4  people are fined and they don't know why they've

          5  been fined, and I think that the issue of

          6  adjudication cannot be separated, and I think that

          7  we need to go forward on the Small Business

          8  Committee side, to look at the entire enforcement

          9  mechanisms that are operating, and then from there

         10  to look at the Municipal Code and to look at the

         11  arcane and more relevant regulations that have

         12  absolutely nothing to do with making businesses

         13  function more efficiently in this City, but through

         14  time and custom have been left on the books to be a

         15  source for revenue enhancement for the City of New

         16  York, and I think that's really what we need to be

         17  looking at when Rob refers to the OATH and the way

         18  in which an administrative law tribunal should be

         19  run. We need to look at the possibility of taking

         20  all of the Administrative law proceedings and

         21  creating an administrative tribunal that gives the

         22  kind of due process protections that are necessary

         23  for the small businesses of the City.

         24                 Keep in mind that over the last four

         25  years, the record levels of bankruptcies and
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          2  foreclosures have reached an all-time high in the

          3  City of New York for small businesses.

          4                 That is somewhat a reflection of

          5  regulatory policy and is also a reflection,

          6  unfortunately, of the City's four-year tax policies,

          7  as well.

          8                 So, given that, what we should be

          9  looking at is now how to make the system function

         10  more efficiently, it gives you the feeling of what

         11  C. Wright Mills called "crackpot rationality." A

         12  system is dysfunctional, small businesses in the

         13  City are hurting, and we're trying to figure out how

         14  to make this system function more efficiently.

         15                 Maybe we need to figure out how to do

         16  less regulation and do more for nurturing these

         17  businesses that are, as Rob says, the backbone of

         18  the City of New York, 186,000 small businesses in

         19  the City of New York. And I think that when we look

         20  at the enforcement side, the increase in the

         21  agency's personnel leading to the ticket blitzes

         22  that have been a staple in the last four years in

         23  the media, all of this is an indication of a desire

         24  to enhance revenue and have nothing to do with small

         25  business per se. And specifically in reference to
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          2  the Commissioner's discussion of removing the

          3  discretion from the hearing officers, what's sad

          4  about that is that the discretion is often the only

          5  thing that's fair in the entire process. That, as

          6  Rob points out, the cases are often very different.

          7  People spend a lot of time and energy and resources

          8  to bring someone like Mr. Bookman in, and to be then

          9  treated in a cavalier and arbitrary fashion, as if

         10  the evidence being presented has absolutely no

         11  impact is distressing. And that is why in a system

         12  as large as this, only 30 percent of the people who

         13  are Notice for Violations bother to show up, and

         14  only two percent of the people who do are actually

         15  successfully acquitted of what the fines are.

         16                 So, what's interesting, of course, is

         17  that the Mayor sees all this as a threat, or at

         18  least through the agency heads, as a threat to the

         19  Mayoral authority, and one could only say we hope

         20  so, that that authority is being abused. And in the

         21  next hearing coming up, I would hope that Chairman

         22  Nelson would ask Commissioner Walsh, someone who is

         23  also concerned about the enhancement of Mayoral

         24  authority, that when you have a Commissioner who can

         25  come in and arbitrarily --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Why don't we

          3  save that for the next part of the hearing.

          4                 MR. LIPSKY: Okay. I'll save that. But

          5  I would like to at least add in terms of everything

          6  we're saying about ECB is applicable also to the

          7  other agency processes. And I think that the Council

          8  needs to look at it all as an entirety, look at how

          9  to enhance small business in this City and to

         10  eliminate the burdens that the agency's arbitrary

         11  enforcement and adjudication policies lead to.

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         14                 Sean Basinski, right?

         15                 MR. BOSINSKI: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Please state

         17  your name for the record, and proceed with your

         18  statement.

         19                 MR. BOSINSKI: Okay, thank you,

         20  Council members.

         21                 My name is Sean Bosinski. I'm a

         22  former street vendor and I'm the Director of a

         23  project called "The Street Vendor Project" at the

         24  Urban Justice Center.

         25                 I'd like to thank you all, and also
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          2  recognize Council Member Reed who has really been a

          3  driving force, as I understand it, in these bills.

          4                 I represent an organization that has

          5  400 street vendors, food vendors and general

          6  merchandise vendors, licensed vendors in this City

          7  who are really the smallest of small businesses.

          8  Often they go on to own stores and really

          9  participate and drive local economy here.

         10                 I practiced at ECB about two or three

         11  times a week, I was just over there this morning,

         12  and I'd like to say that these bills, 711 and 718,

         13  are very important for the community of about 10,000

         14  street vendors in New York City.

         15                 As to 711, which would of course give

         16  the judges discretion to determine what the fines

         17  are, I think it's interesting just this morning I

         18  was told that finally the ECB has raised fines

         19  against vendors, mandated that raise that its ALJs

         20  carry out to a maximum of $1,000 for some vending

         21  penalties.

         22                 This, after we've been fighting them

         23  for about two years, there have been two lawsuits

         24  now, and two public hearings where more than 200

         25  vendors came and said this is wrong, and this is a
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          2  real strain on our livelihood, this is going to put

          3  us out of business. And by the way, two people came

          4  and testified in support of that bill, two people

          5  versus about 200 people.

          6                 And yet the ECB went ahead with that

          7  change, and why when it seems that we all know that

          8  the Mayor is trying to raise more revenue.

          9                 This was the most undemocratic

         10  process I can imagine. The City Council is what

         11  democracy is for. It's up to you all to determine

         12  what the fine should be against small businesses,

         13  not in this case, which happened under the Mayor's

         14  directive, it seems, first through a secretive

         15  process, and then being hammered home by the ECB

         16  designees from the Administration who outnumber the

         17  citizen members, by the way.

         18                 So, that's a, 711 is a very important

         19  bill, for those reasons.

         20                 And by the way, I wish that there was

         21  some ALJs here today to testify because I know some

         22  of them very well, and they tell me that they're not

         23  comfortable imposing these maximum penalties of

         24  $1,000, for example, against the street vendor who

         25  might not make that much in a month.
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          2                 Really if the ALJs were here, I think

          3  you'd have a chance to hear from them, as opposed to

          4  hear from their bosses, bosses what's right and what

          5  they would want to be doing.

          6                 MR. BOOKMAN: Of course they would

          7  have to put bags over their heads to keep their

          8  identity secret.

          9                 MR. BOSINSKI: That's right.

         10                 The same holds true with the

         11  provision for interpreters.

         12                 It's not easy for an ALJ to really be

         13  forced to have hearings with people who don't speak

         14  good English, and it happens all the time.

         15                 I've seen many times when I'm in

         16  there with vendors, and by the way, our

         17  Administration does try to provide interpreters when

         18  we can. We try to find volunteers to come. It's very

         19  hard, we're a tiny non-profit organization. Really

         20  the question here is should the burden be on the

         21  litigant, or should the burden be on the system to

         22  provide the interpreter.

         23                 Now, the ECB says, well, the burden

         24  should be on the person who got the ticket to find

         25  someone to come in. But as we know, many people
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          2  don't have someone to come in.

          3                 Clearly, in criminal court the

          4  responsibility is on the court system. We all

          5  understand that not everyone can bring their son or

          6  daughter in, maybe that person is in school. They

          7  may not have friends that can interpret for them

          8  that can take a day off work.

          9                 And I've seen cases where, you know,

         10  you go into the hearing and the first thing a judge

         11  says to the person is "raise your right hand," and

         12  no hand goes up. "Raise your right hand," and, you

         13  know, and that should be about the time that you

         14  realize that a travesty of justice, if any justice

         15  is about to occur, it's not going to be very much

         16  justice. That happens all the time.

         17                 You know, I think it's interesting,

         18  when you call 3-1-1, they have a system where they

         19  can patch you through into a conference call, and I

         20  think they have operators there that speak 120

         21  languages or something like that, right? The reason

         22  I think is because that was one of the Mayor's pet

         23  projects and the Mayor knows that New Yorkers speak

         24  very many different languages.

         25                 The Mayor's own website now is
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          2  translated I think into nine or ten different

          3  languages because the Mayor knows that you can't

          4  always put the burden on the people who are not well

          5  situated to provide that translation themselves.

          6                 By the same token, the ECB should

          7  bear that burden. There are many ways of doing it in

          8  an efficient manner. There's this phone conferencing

          9  possibility. You could say, okay, Mondays will be

         10  Spanish, Tuesday is Bengali, Wednesday is Arabic.

         11  You could divide systems that would be possible to

         12  carry out efficiently without having, you know, 20

         13  translators on staff at all times.

         14                 And so that translation provision is

         15  very important for our City's street vendors,

         16  perhaps the most important along with the fines.

         17                 And then briefly just to mention a

         18  couple of other things, the Article 78 provision has

         19  been talked about. Like Mr. Bookman, I've been doing

         20  this for four years and I never have gotten an

         21  appeal decision back, and so when vendors come to me

         22  and say they want to appeal, I say, well, we can do

         23  it but there's no real justice there. At least if we

         24  can go to the courts we'll be able to have an

         25  oversight function over at the ECB to hold them
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          2  accountable for something that happens there.

          3                 And that's all I have to say, so

          4  thank you very much for the time to testify before

          5  you today.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

          7                 Thank you all. Before I recognize

          8  Council Member James, who I know has questions, I

          9  just wanted to thank you for being here today and

         10  giving us the full range of your views in making a

         11  very, very compelling case for the reform of the

         12  ECB, which is what we intend to do.

         13                 And so I appreciate that, and now I

         14  recognize Council Member James for questions.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         16                 I once was an ALJ, but I was an ALJ

         17  within the Taxi and Limousine Commission, and

         18  recently I accompanied some members of my commercial

         19  corridors over to an ECB agency in Brooklyn, on

         20  Schimmerhorn Street, I believe, for some Sanitation

         21  violations, and I've done that from time to time

         22  because they're small businesses and often times

         23  there's a sense of -- they feel that they're being

         24  harassed and they're overburdened, and as was

         25  mentioned before a significant number of them are
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          2  having difficulty surviving, given a climate.

          3                 And the last time I served as an ALJ

          4  was maybe about ten years ago, but when I went to

          5  ECB, what I noticed was not much has changed. They

          6  still came out and yelled for an interpreter or for

          7  someone to come forward who spoke a different

          8  language, and I thought that was still amazing.

          9                 I thought we progressed to the point

         10  where we're providing individuals who do not speak

         11  English with the same due process rights that I am

         12  afforded. But apparently we're not.

         13                 Let me also say that I was also

         14  appalled that they also indicated to me that the

         15  inspector, or whoever had written the ticket, was

         16  not obligated to appear, and I had no right to cross

         17  examine them, or my constituent who was there had no

         18  right to cross examine them or question them on the

         19  four corners of the ticket. I found that amazing.

         20                 So, although this is really not a

         21  question but more of a comment, the speedy trial,

         22  which obviously applies in criminal cases, does that

         23  apply in these particular types of cases, the issue

         24  of speedy trial?

         25                 MR. BOOKMAN: Not in administrative
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          2  hearings. It's not insomuch frankly a problem at

          3  ECB. I just came back from doing a hearing at

          4  Department of Consumer Affairs, the violation was

          5  issued in May 2002, and we had to do the hearing,

          6  obviously our employee doesn't work for us anymore,

          7  so what they said.

          8                 No, at ECB I have not had to deal

          9  with any hearings that, you know, on charges that

         10  were pending that long.

         11                 On the appeals, however, and I want

         12  to stress that appeal point, this legislation

         13  addresses, it's not just sometimes an individual

         14  that wants, you know, a quick situation, a quick

         15  answer, representing trade associations, we had a

         16  situation where the ECB ALJs were obviously all

         17  instructed under particular noise code provision to

         18  find individuals guilty, even know it seemed clear

         19  to us that that noise code provision did not apply

         20  to the circumstances that DEP inspectors were

         21  issuing the violations for.

         22                 It was a code provision that was

         23  intended to prevent hawkers and people putting

         24  speakers outside, like some place you see on Canal

         25  Street, and instead they were issuing violations to
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          2  bars and restaurants and night clubs whose internal

          3  sound system was, according to inspector, audible on

          4  the sidewalk and using that section of commercial,

          5  you know, hawking. Clearly it wasn't applicable, but

          6  all the judges were clearly instructed to rule the

          7  same way.

          8                 Well, we wanted to go to a real

          9  court, do an Article 78, but we had to exhaust the

         10  Administrative remedies first, and low and behold,

         11  it took years for ECB to decide any of these

         12  administrative appeals.

         13                 In the meantime, more and more

         14  businesses are getting the same violation and being

         15  found guilty.

         16                 Finally, they issued an

         17  administrative determination, an Article 78 was

         18  taken. To no surprise the court overruled them, said

         19  that's not what that section of law, but we can't

         20  get -- we're not going to go get the money back from

         21  all of these people, so a quick exhaustion of

         22  administrative -- a quick option to go to court is

         23  extremely critical when you have an overburdened

         24  administrative agency that can't get to appeals on a

         25  timely manner.
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          2                 I'm not blaming, pointing the finger

          3  that it takes them that long, I'm just saying we

          4  should have the option to go directly to start.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I agree. And

          6  obviously I support 711 and 718 and would like to

          7  work with you further on some additional pieces of

          8  legislation that I think would assist us in what I

          9  think really should be, as opposed to an enforcement

         10  agency truly an adjudicatory -- I can't say the

         11  word, but you know what I mean.

         12                 MR. BOOKMAN: Yes. Thank you so much.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         15  Council Member James.

         16                 Yes, I'd just like to I guess point

         17  out, Mr. Bookman, that your sworn testimony

         18  indicates that you served 4 million years ago at the

         19  -- I just thought that I'd point that out.

         20                 MR. BOOKMAN: You all think I'm much

         21  younger than I am. I don't tell you how long ago I

         22  was in City government. All this is getting old.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And Mr. Lipsky,

         24  at the end of your testimony, you cited statistics

         25  that, you know, differ very much from those
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          2  presented by the Administration in terms of with

          3  regard to how many people -- the statement of the

          4  Administration was that less than one percent of the

          5  current decisions are now being appealed and I guess

          6  you've made a case for why that is so.

          7                 And you also indicated that the 30

          8  percent, 37 percent of cases overall in the ECB are

          9  dismissed and 45 percent of Sanitation cases are

         10  dismissed in favor of the respondents, and so, you

         11  know, that was their statement. And so I'm just

         12  pointing out for everyone that there was a

         13  difference there.

         14                 MR. BOOKMAN: My personal experience,

         15  as far as dismissals go, it's when the violation is

         16  defective on its face, they have no choice but to

         17  dismiss it, not a substantive dismissal, you know,

         18  after a hearing.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         20                 And, so, I just want to thank you

         21  once again for being here.

         22                 MR. BOOKMAN: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And Mr.

         24  Bosinski, and Mr. Lipsky and Mr. Bookman, thanks so

         25  much for your advocacy on behalf of the vendors,
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          2  Sean and -- you have one moment.

          3                 MR. BOOKMAN: I look forward to being

          4  upstairs before the year is out when these bills are

          5  passed. Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

          7  you. Thank you for that voice of support.

          8                 Okay, we're going to do -- members of

          9  the Committee on Environmental Protection, I guess I

         10  would be the only one in that category, are

         11  dismissed, so the section of the hearing for the

         12  joint hearing would be over between the Committee on

         13  Environmental Protection and the Committee on Small

         14  Business, and what will follow is a continuation of

         15  the hearing on Small Business, chaired by Mike

         16  Nelson, with whom it's been a pleasure to co-chair

         17  the first part of the hearing.

         18                 I'd also like to thank in a special

         19  way the members of the staff who worked so hard on

         20  Intro 711 and 718, Mitchell Schwartz, Neil Cronley,

         21  Donna DeCostanzo, Richard Colon, my own Chief of

         22  Staff Peter Washburn, and once again thanks to the

         23  people from DEP and the Bloomberg Administration for

         24  their cooperation today.

         25                 Thank you, Chairman Nelson.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you.

          3                 It's sort of a seamless transition.

          4  Good afternoon again, and welcome to the solo

          5  portion of today's hearing, the Committee on Small

          6  Business.

          7                 Once again, my name is Mike Nelson,

          8  and I chair the Committee on Small Business.

          9                 We've convened the Committee to

         10  consider three pieces of legislation for the very

         11  first time.

         12                 These bills are meant to improve the

         13  general environment in which small businesses

         14  operate within the City.

         15                 It's very difficult for small

         16  businesses to open and flourish in New York City

         17  today and help is needed from government in a direct

         18  manner. These three bills do exactly that.

         19                 The first bill is Intro. 709, the

         20  prime sponsor of which is Speaker Giff Miller.

         21  Intro. 709 repeals or amends numerous sections of

         22  the New York City Administrative Code in an effort

         23  to update those sections of law for today's world,

         24  and make those sanctions of the code more business

         25  friendly.
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          2                 The second bill to be considered is

          3  number 713, whose prime sponsor is Council Member

          4  Eric Gioia. This bill would mandate the maintenance

          5  of a website containing a searchable database for

          6  small business owners, to help such owners identify

          7  and comply with all required licenses for their

          8  businesses.

          9                 By requiring a government-sponsored

         10  searchable licensure database, Intro. No. 713 would

         11  equip small business owners with a do-it-yourself

         12  tool to identify and comply with any and all

         13  applicable licenses necessary to lawfully open and

         14  maintain a small business in the City of New York.

         15                 Finally, Intro. No. 715 will create

         16  an office of small business assistance within the

         17  Department of Small Business Services.

         18                 This bill, sponsored by myself, would

         19  create a coherent, comprehensive mechanism within

         20  government designed to assist small business owners,

         21  launch their enterprises, and to support their

         22  growth and development of small businesses once

         23  they're off the ground.

         24                 The bill would focus governmental

         25  resources towards aiding perspective and existing
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          2  business owners in identifying, navigating and

          3  applying for any and all licenses and necessary

          4  permits to lawfully set up or maintain a small

          5  business in New York City.

          6                 The legislation would also require

          7  government to help perspective and existing small

          8  business to identify and apply for available

          9  financial assistance and loans.

         10                 These governmental functions would be

         11  performed by the newly-created Office of Small

         12  Business Assistance, which would maintain at least

         13  one centrally located office in each of the City's

         14  five boroughs.

         15                 Now let us welcome our first panel of

         16  witnesses from the Administration, Ms. Pauline

         17  Toole, First Deputy Commissioner for the Department

         18  of Small Business Services.

         19                 Welcome, Ms. Toole, and please

         20  identify yourself for the record.

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Sorry,

         22  we're getting organized here.

         23                 Hi. I'm Pauline Toole. I'm an

         24  Assistant Commissioner at the City's Department of

         25  Consumer Affairs.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Welcome. Thank

          3  you.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Thank

          5  you, Mr. Chair, for the opportunity to offer

          6  comments on Intro. No. 709, which will amend several

          7  local laws, including some sections of the

          8  Administrative Code enforced by the Department of

          9  Consumer Affairs.

         10                 The proposed local law strings

         11  together a series of eight proposed changes, two of

         12  those changes are completely unrelated to anything

         13  else in the proposal.

         14                 Good afternoon, Chairman Nelson and

         15  members of the Committee. I am Pauline Toole, an

         16  Assistant Commissioner at the Department of Consumer

         17  Affairs. Thank you for the opportunity to offer

         18  comments on Intro. No. 709 which will amend several

         19  local laws, including some sections of the

         20  Administrative Code enforced by the DCA.

         21                 The proposed local law strings

         22  together a series of eight proposed changes. Two of

         23  these changes are completely unrelated to anything

         24  else in the proposal or to DCA. Section 2 is an

         25  amendment to the administrative code enforced by the
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          2  Health Department which would undermine enforcement

          3  of the Smoke Free Air Act.

          4                 Section 9 would amend the

          5  administrative code enforced by the Department of

          6  Environmental Protection regarding washing public

          7  sidewalks without a permit.

          8                 The other six have only the

          9  commonality that they are amendments to the code

         10  enforcement by the Department of Consumer Affairs.

         11                 DCA has no comment of the two

         12  proposed sections which we do not administer.

         13                 However, it would seem sensible to

         14  consider them separately from the DCA measures.

         15                 Section 3 of the proposed local law

         16  would retain the prohibition on gambling in pool

         17  halls, but remove the language that prohibits

         18  operators of school halls for maintaining disorderly

         19  premises, selling habit-forming drugs, and the

         20  devices used to administer such drugs and permitting

         21  minors in a pool hall without a guardian.

         22                 The existing provisions allow the

         23  City to enforce against neighborhood nuisances and

         24  give the City additional options to enforce against

         25  disorderly premises.
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          2                 I would like to remind the Committee

          3  that just four months ago, the Council considered

          4  minors in Internet cafes to be such a problem that

          5  it passed a law outlawing their presence during the

          6  school day. Retaining the analogous existing

          7  language for pool halls would seem sensible.

          8                 Section 4 requires recitation of

          9  sidewalk cafe boundaries on the license document and

         10  prohibits violations for impermissible table

         11  configuration if all other laws and rules are

         12  complied with.

         13                 The Department believes a requirement

         14  for a license to recite the boundaries of a sidewalk

         15  cafe is not meaningful for community residents,

         16  restaurant owners or enforcement agents.

         17                 It also includes a technical problem

         18  to include such meets and bounds on the license

         19  document.

         20                 If the concern is whether neighbors

         21  of a cafe know how large it can be, the current law

         22  covers that in an admirable fashion.

         23                 Section 20-224-B provides in part

         24  that the cafe operator should cause the boundary of

         25  the area licensed as a sidewalk cafe to be marked in
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          2  a manner prescribed under rules promulgated by the

          3  Commissioner.

          4                 This past summer, the Department

          5  working with restaurant owners in 13 community board

          6  areas piloted the marking of boundaries of 27

          7  sidewalk cafes.

          8                 Our team marked the approved

          9  boundaries of cafes with durable paint. Based on

         10  feedback we are collecting, the DCA will promulgate

         11  regulations to better implement the current law.

         12                 Owners of sidewalk cafes apply for

         13  permission to place a set number of tables and

         14  chairs within the boundaries of the cafe.

         15                 They also pay for the privilege of

         16  using a defined amount of sidewalk space and a

         17  consent fee. Cafe owners appropriately receive

         18  violations for excess tables and chairs.

         19                 They cannot add two smaller tables to

         20  accommodate two parties of two, instead of a table

         21  for four.

         22                 The required complaint sign lists the

         23  number of tables and chairs that are permitted. An

         24  inspector relies on that information in determining

         25  whether a cafe should receive a violation for
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          2  expanding beyond the appropriate size.

          3                 It would be highly unusual for the

          4  Department to issue a violation based on

          5  impermissible table configuration. We would issue a

          6  violation where the cafe operator places more than

          7  the approved number of tables and chairs in the

          8  cafe.

          9                 As a result, we believe this proposal

         10  does not address an existing problem and is

         11  unnecessary.

         12                 Section 5 repeals the prohibition on

         13  licensed secondhand dealers to deal in the purchase

         14  or sale of junk, old rope, old iron, brass copper,

         15  tin, lead, rubber, paper, rags, bagging slush or

         16  empty bottles and from using a boat, cart or other

         17  vehicle to collect these items.

         18                 The Department agrees that this is

         19  archaic and should be repealed.

         20                 Section 6 eliminates the statutory

         21  requirement that laundries remain closed all day on

         22  Sunday and between the hours of 12:00 a.m. and 6:00

         23  a.m. on all other days.

         24                 The prohibition on Sunday operations

         25  was found to be invalid in 1963 and thus is not
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          2  enforced. The DCA agrees that cleaning up the law to

          3  reflect this status makes sense, as does eliminating

          4  the requirement that laundries be closed from

          5  midnight to 6:00 a.m.

          6                 We would be happy to work with

          7  Council staff to address several other archaic

          8  sections of this same licensing law, such as the

          9  exemption for persons doing custom laundry work at

         10  home, the bond schedule and the specialized

         11  application review.

         12                 Providing laundry owners with the

         13  option of a video camera as a security device in

         14  lieu of a guard is an interesting idea. We would

         15  like to further consider this and obtain input from

         16  the City's Police Department on safety implications

         17  before commenting further.

         18                 In any case, we suggest that the bill

         19  specifically provide for laundries that operate

         20  24/7, since as drafted, the security provision only

         21  covers laundries that are open from 8:00 p.m. until

         22  closing, and not laundries that never close.

         23                 Section 7 requires public dance

         24  halls, cabarets and catering establishments to

         25  provide a clearly printed menu itemizing prices
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          2  charged for food and drink before the guest is

          3  served, or an observable posted menu.

          4                 Catering establishment should be

          5  removed from the list because the prices of items

          6  served usually are set by a contract with the

          7  consumer sponsoring the event.

          8                 Furthermore, DCA has not received any

          9  complaints from dance hall patrons who did not

         10  receive a pricelist before ordering beverages and

         11  have no comment on the necessity of the provision.

         12                 Section 8 amends the requirement for

         13  posting prices by electronic stores.

         14                 This proposal would eviscerate a

         15  Department rule which requires electronic stores to

         16  post the manufacturer's suggested retail price or

         17  MSRP, when the store is selling an item for more

         18  than the suggested price.

         19                 The DCA strongly opposes this change

         20  because it will remove a strong consumer protection.

         21  While many stores in New York City sell items below

         22  the suggested price, there are stores that many of

         23  us think of as tourist traps that sell above the

         24  MSRP.

         25                 These stores prey on the unwary who
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          2  hope to get a good deal on electronics in New York

          3  City. The businesses offer a deal that sounds good

          4  to an eager buyer, but which in fact is not a deal

          5  at all.

          6                 By requiring the disclosure of the

          7  manufacturer suggested retail price, the DCA is able

          8  to better enforce against these businesses.

          9                 The rule also helps provide a fair

         10  market place for the businesses that actually offer

         11  the items below the MSRP. Electronic store

         12  complaints, including being overcharged, are among

         13  the agency's top complaint categories. Amending the

         14  law to eliminate the MSRP provision and reduce

         15  consumer protection is a mistake.

         16                 I thank you again for the opportunity

         17  to comment, and if you have any questions, I would

         18  try to answer them.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you, Ms.

         20  Toole. Your testimony has been very helpful.

         21                 So, you do receive complaints such as

         22  outdated laws and anachronisms and what have you. Do

         23  you have a process in the Administration, oh, I'm

         24  sure you do, but what do you do as far as reviewing

         25  laws, the relevancy and the adequacy in the realm of
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          2  making changes? The process?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: I can't

          4  speak for other agencies, but at the Department of

          5  Consumer Affairs, I've spent the last two years with

          6  a Committee of people who have expertise at the

          7  Department reviewing our entire Code and rules, and

          8  we have several suggested changes that are being

          9  drafted now, including the laundry's one that you

         10  put forth and the junk dealer that you put forth.

         11  But there are others, and there are also other

         12  changes in the rules that we would like to see.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Do you solicit

         14  advice from outside the agency?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Pardon

         16  me?

         17                 Well, we're doing an internal review,

         18  and then what would happen thereafter is if we went

         19  into rule making, there is a prescribed public

         20  comment period and we would take the public comment

         21  and, you know, factor those into the rule, as has

         22  been the Department's practice. And obviously, if it

         23  required a local law or legislation, there is a full

         24  hearing process here. So, that's where we believe

         25  will be additional public comment.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: In other words,

          3  to keep up. Okay.

          4                 There have been instances where

          5  perhaps a particular fine would be actually a double

          6  fine, could be City and State, such as let's say

          7  with smoking. You are obviously aware of that

          8  problem, and do you think the double fining is

          9  proper? And has any special deterrent effect been

         10  put into effect as well? In other words, to rectify

         11  a situation, sort of like double jeopardy in this

         12  case. You may have to go through the City and the

         13  State to pay fines for the same offense.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Are you

         15  addressing particularly subdivision 2 of this?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Yes, you're

         17  correct.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Well

         19  that, as I said, amends the Health Department Law

         20  and the Department of Consumer Affairs does not have

         21  a comment on that.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Do we have to

         23  take that too?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: I'm

         25  sorry?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: As far as, in

          3  other words, what's the Department of Consumer

          4  Affairs' position on that?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: We

          6  don't have a position on the Health Department's Law

          7  and rules.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: We can follow-up

          9  with the Health Department with this then.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Yes.

         11  Obviously the City Legislative Affairs office will.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Oh, Counsel

         13  advises it's under review right now. Okay. I respect

         14  that. As long as it's followed up on. Double

         15  jeopardy type of situation. We don't need that.

         16                 How many total notices of violations

         17  are issued annually, considering sidewalk cafes of

         18  the overall total? And how many issued that concern,

         19  inadequate aisle for restaurant staff and customers?

         20  Before I go on with the rest of it, that's a

         21  mouthful right there.

         22                 Are you keeping a tab, DCA keeping a

         23  tab on that particular problem which is prevalent in

         24  the City?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Well, I
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          2  don't have with me the number of violations issued,

          3  but I'd be happy to provide that. I could not. I'm

          4  not good with numbers. I would have to ask someone

          5  what it was.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Okay.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: And I'd

          8  be happy to report back to the Committee.

          9                 As to the separate question, what was

         10  the question about an aisle, the service aisle?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Yes, right.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: What

         13  was the service aisle section of your question?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: All right, you

         15  wouldn't have the subset, of course we have the

         16  total, but it's of interest, of course, because it

         17  creates a fire violation and more dangerous

         18  situation. That will also be put on the shelf, that

         19  you can get back with that information as well.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Just so

         21  I understand, you would like to know the total

         22  number --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: The table

         24  configuration.

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: -- Of
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          2  violations the Department issues to sidewalk cafes,

          3  and you would like to know the number of violations

          4  the Department issues for having an inadequate

          5  service aisle, right.

          6                 But let me also clarify that that has

          7  nothing to do with table configuration.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: DCA does not get

          9  involved in that at all?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: The

         11  configuration of the tables are set out in the plans

         12  submitted by the applicant for a restaurant,

         13  sidewalk cafe.

         14                 But when the Department issues

         15  violations, unless someone has called us and made a

         16  particular complaint about the way the tables are

         17  aligned, our inspectors in the field do not bring

         18  those plans out into the field with them.

         19                 What they do is they go to the

         20  restaurant and the restaurant complaint sign and

         21  license tells the permitted number of tables and

         22  chairs and they would count the tables and chairs

         23  against that sign.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: So that would be

         25  complaint driven to begin with anyway generally?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Yes and

          3  no. We do inspections that are qualifying

          4  inspections. Generally we don't issue violations

          5  then because it's to tell restaurants whether or not

          6  they're following the law.

          7                 Then if an inspector is out on a

          8  regular inspection route and they're passing a

          9  sidewalk cafe, it would be reasonable for them to

         10  count the number of tables and chairs to determine

         11  whether or not there was a violation, or to make

         12  sure there is the required eight-foot pedestrian

         13  clearance so that people don't trip walking down the

         14  street.

         15                 So we would do that routinely rather

         16  than ignore it.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: That is a concern

         18  and safety issue, as well, of course.

         19                 Well, we thank you, Ms. Toole. I

         20  appreciate that very much.

         21                 MS. TOOLE: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: We will follow-up

         23  on the other questions.

         24                 MS. TOOLE: Okay.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Hi, Commissioner
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          2  Newhouse. Thank you for joining us. And you are

          3  going to do a powerpoint, I believe?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWHOUSE: Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Okay, thank you.

          6                 Please just for the record identify

          7  yourself.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWHOUSE:

          9  Certainly. I'm Mark Newhouse, Deputy Commissioner

         10  for Neighborhood Development at the New York City

         11  Department of Small Business Services.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you, and

         13  welcome.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWHOUSE: Thank

         15  you.

         16                 Good afternoon, Chairman Nelson, and

         17  members of the Committee. I am Mark Newhouse, Deputy

         18  Commissioner for Neighborhood Development and Small

         19  Business Services, and I'd like to thank the members

         20  of the Committee on Small Business for this

         21  opportunity to share with you some information on

         22  the past history, current performance and future

         23  plans of NYC Business Solutions, which is the City's

         24  initiative to help small businesses prosper and

         25  grow.
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          2                 I'd also like to take a moment and

          3  introduce my colleague, Michael Hecht, who is

          4  Assistant Commissioner for the NYC Business

          5  Solutions Initiative.

          6                 The City agrees with the Council's

          7  assertion that the 200,000 plus small businesses in

          8  New York City need a single resource to help them

          9  navigate regulations, attain financing and address a

         10  broad range of other business issues.

         11                 In fact, it was within this context

         12  that Mayor Bloomberg announced the creation of NYC

         13  Business Solutions, a comprehensive one-stop

         14  resource for the City's businesses to get free,

         15  quick and reliable answers to every day business

         16  questions.

         17                 Since September 2004, Business

         18  Solutions has helped thousands of New York City

         19  businesses with business planning, accessing

         20  capital, navigating government regulations, hiring

         21  and training workers, accessing incentives,

         22  attaining government contracts, certifying as

         23  minority and business enterprises and answering

         24  general management questions on such topics as legal

         25  formation.
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          2                 As I hope you'll see from this

          3  overview, NYC Business Solutions already effectively

          4  encompasses many of the functions detailed in the

          5  proposed Office of Small Business Assistance, and

          6  the Small Business Website Legislation.

          7                 With that in mind, going forward the

          8  City hopes to work in tandem with the Council to

          9  further develop and strengthen the Business

         10  Solutions Program to the great potential benefit of

         11  the small business community of our City.

         12                 Over the past year, business

         13  solutions as a system has handled over 17,000

         14  requests for assistance from local entrepreneurs and

         15  business people.

         16                 More than 3,000 of these requests

         17  have been for help, planning and starting a

         18  business, including obtaining the required licenses

         19  an permits to do so.

         20                 Perhaps the greatest achievement for

         21  NYC Business Solutions of the past year has been

         22  helping local businesses close on over $10 million

         23  in new financing from sources ranging from large

         24  commercial banks, down to small non-profit

         25  micro-lenders.
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          2                 Frequently the SBA, partner of NYC

          3  Business Solutions, has been brought in to help make

          4  these financing deals possible.

          5                 Further, NYC Business Solutions has

          6  helped local businesses secure $825,000 in new

          7  government contracts, and nearly 300 businesses have

          8  been helped through emergencies by Business

          9  Solutions with our staff visiting those businesses

         10  on site, and helping them access their premises,

         11  obtain needed permits, and obtain emergency grant

         12  funding.

         13                 NYC Business Solutions serves a broad

         14  customer base. Approximately 13 percent of service

         15  requests come from the Bronx, 15 percent Brooklyn,

         16  24 percent from Lower Manhattan, 18 from Upper

         17  Manhattan, 16 percent from Queens, and the final 13

         18  percent from Staten Island.

         19                 It's worthy to note that as measured

         20  by formal feedback, these diverse customers give

         21  Business Solutions an average overall satisfaction

         22  rating of 4.3 on a five-point scale.

         23                 Entrepreneurs and business people can

         24  access NYC Business Solutions in four ways: First,

         25  in seven Business Solution Centers located
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          2  throughout the five boroughs near major transit

          3  hubs. In these Business Solution Centers business

          4  people will find trained, exam-certified business

          5  counselors, who will see clients on a walk-in or

          6  appointment basis.

          7                 Seminars are also offered on such

          8  topics as business basics, management for creative

          9  professionals and the ever-popular Restaurant Boot

         10  Camp.

         11                 The Business Solution Centers are

         12  staffed by some of the best economic development

         13  organizations in the City: The Bronx Overall

         14  Economic Development Corporation in the Bronx, The

         15  Brooklyn Chamber of Commerce in Brooklyn, Seedco in

         16  Manhattan, Grant Associates in Queens and Staten

         17  Island EDC and the College of Staten Island SBDC in

         18  Staten Island.

         19                 Secondly, individuals can log on our

         20  website, www.nyc.govsmallbiz, to access a broad

         21  range of information organized into easily digest

         22  simple solutions.

         23                 The website also contains specific

         24  information on required business licenses and

         25  permits, as well as links to relative agencies and
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          2  applications.

          3                 Business Solutions website receives

          4  over 5,000 unique visits a month. Proposed future

          5  upgrades to the site include enhanced ability to

          6  apply and pay for all license and permits.

          7                 Third, entrepreneurs and business

          8  people can call 3-1-1 and ask for NYC Business

          9  Solutions. They can also call with a specific

         10  business question, and will be transferred to an

         11  appropriate business solutions counselor.

         12                 3-1-1 received over 10,000 calls for

         13  business assistance over the past year.

         14                 Fourth, NYC Business Solutions

         15  Business Outreach Team actually makes house calls

         16  and visits individuals at their place of business.

         17                 The team also conducts periodic

         18  neighborhood outreach walks in conjunction with

         19  community-based organizations and sister agencies

         20  like the Department of Consumer Affairs.

         21                 Over the past year, the Business

         22  Outreach Team visited more than 3,000 businesses

         23  across New York City.

         24                 NYC Business Solutions' model is

         25  based on serving as a coordinating point between
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          2  local businesses and the myriad of government

          3  non-profit and for-profit entities in New York City

          4  that can be of assistance to them.

          5                 For example, a business relocating to

          6  the Bronx may be referred to SBS's incentive unit

          7  for assistance, a Harlem retailer seeking to expand

          8  may be referred to the non-profit Accion New York

          9  for a loan, or a Brooklyn food manufacturer looking

         10  to grow may be connected with a pro bono operations

         11  expert from a top tier consulting firm.

         12                 In this way Business Solutions

         13  leverages all of the preexisting resources in New

         14  York City making them organized and readily

         15  available.

         16                 I'd like to conclude with an example

         17  of one of our clients. Emory Moore of Brooklyn

         18  always dreamed of owning his own business. He was

         19  frustrated, however, about his inability to find an

         20  affordable appropriate space and to get the

         21  financing he needed.

         22                 After working with our Brooklyn

         23  Business Solutions Center, Emory found the perfect

         24  space on Fulton Street and Clinton Hill, and was

         25  approved for a $138,000 loan from HSBC.
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          2                 Business Solutions helped Emory

          3  promote his grand opening and later even saw that

          4  his new business "Embora Wellness & Movement

          5  Studio," received an additional $50,000 loan for

          6  working capital.

          7                 Dozens of similar success stores have

          8  generated, have been generated across the five

          9  boroughs:

         10                 - AA Air Filter in the Bronx, which

         11  found four new workers through our Career Center.

         12                 - Dollar Internet Cafe in Harlem,

         13  which used the Solutions Center to guide its way

         14  through the permitting process.

         15                 - Manhattan Children's Theater, which

         16  was able to relocate in Lower Manhattan with our

         17  help.

         18                 - Cool Beens Restaurant in Queens,

         19  which received a $100,000 loan to purchase new

         20  fixtures; and

         21                 - The Richmond Senior Center on

         22  Staten Island, which worked with Business Solutions

         23  to obtain Empire Zone tax credits.

         24                 The City looks forward to working

         25  with the Council to grow and improve Business
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          2  Solutions, promote its services to the community,

          3  and create many more stories of business success in

          4  the future.

          5                 Thank you very much, and I'd be happy

          6  to answer any questions.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you,

          8  Commissioner Newhouse. It's frustrating, you

          9  answered almost all the questions that I had.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWHOUSE: That's

         11  just how efficient we are at NYC Business Solutions.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: It appears to be.

         13  We can't really attack you. It's a shame, this

         14  becomes boring sometimes.

         15                 But I would ask this, though --

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWHOUSE: Sure.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: The average

         18  amount of time between the time a small business

         19  puts through the application and -- license

         20  application, and the time that it is granted,

         21  paperwork and whatever else that's involved.

         22                 About how long did it usually take?

         23  It's not going to be seven days every time, it could

         24  be three days, two weeks or a month, depending upon

         25  the process, the individual business works with you
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          2  on it, but can you run us through it perhaps, let's

          3  say the average business?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWHOUSE:

          5  Obviously there are a number of different permitting

          6  agencies and then the permitting process, statutory

          7  process with different permits is different.

          8                 Michael, I don't know if you have a

          9  sense of that?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HECHT: No.

         11  Thank you, Council member.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Sure.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HECHT: I think

         14  that the process, as I'm sure you know, can range

         15  from under two weeks to sometimes these processes

         16  get hung up and we actually become involved in

         17  helping trying to understand what is going wrong in

         18  the process in terms of information that's not being

         19  provided to the administering agency or so forth, so

         20  that an application can get put through.

         21                 So, unfortunately, the answer is that

         22  it varies widely right now.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Well, common

         24  reasons that would delay an application from the

         25  business owner's side or ever with the Department of
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          2  Small Business Services?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWHOUSE: Well, I

          4  think one thing, there are, you know, common

          5  mistakes that are made. Business owners may fill out

          6  information incorrectly, it's sent to the agency,

          7  then it's reviewed, then it's returned.

          8                 I think one of the value propositions

          9  here of something like Business Solutions is we

         10  provide a single point of contact with the business

         11  up front, and do really two things, one, hopefully

         12  reduce the number of clerical errors that are going

         13  to be made, and give that person a single point of

         14  contact so that they're not running around to six,

         15  seven, eight, ten different people in different

         16  agencies and they can check back with basically

         17  their account manager who then, since they're inside

         18  the City, has a pretty good relationship with a lot

         19  of those permitting agencies.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: So, insufficient

         21  or inadequate application forms, or filling it out

         22  that way, would really obviously delay the process,

         23  but that you'd be there, Solutions or what have you,

         24  to really walk them through the process to a large

         25  degree, which would perhaps negate that problem?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWHOUSE: Yes, I

          3  think that's exactly right.

          4                 And as I said, you know, we are

          5  excited about using technology to help us in this

          6  pursuit as well, applications that are done in

          7  on-line format are often less error prone than

          8  things that are filled out by hand and aren't

          9  checked by a system prior to submission.

         10                 So, I think at the point where

         11  something like that is available, that will, again,

         12  reduce error and reduce turn-around time.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Do you work in

         14  concert with State government perhaps, where they

         15  may have to go through obviously the regulations

         16  about with the state as well?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWHOUSE:

         18  Michael, why don't you talk about that a bit.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HECHT: In

         20  fact, this summer we convened for the first time a

         21  roundtable with State agencies, as well as federal

         22  agencies, and for the first time that we know of,

         23  we're moving forward in concert so that the

         24  individual who walks in, for example, to open a

         25  restaurant is a classic example, can find out about
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          2  the City and the State and perhaps any federal

          3  regulations from one place.

          4                 So, yes, we do and we are going

          5  forward in that direction.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Okay. And with

          7  SBA loans?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HECHT: We work

          9  very closely with the SBA. In fact, when we were

         10  talking to them at the outset, we said the first

         11  thing we'd like from you is a hot line, so if

         12  somebody comes in and wants to talk to you, they'd

         13  speak to you directly and so the SBA gave us a hot

         14  line to use so we can put clients in touch with them

         15  at 26 Federal Plaza.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Yes. How well are

         17  these offices publicized? Advertising any business

         18  magazines, or anywhere's else?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWHOUSE: Yes. In

         20  fact, we just launched our, really our first

         21  advertising campaign for Business Solutions. The

         22  first ad appeared in the New York Times Special

         23  Insert Section for Small Businesses last week, and

         24  we're going to be advertising a lot of local media

         25  about the five boroughs.
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          2                 I should also say that we are really

          3  excited to be partnering with Crain's New York. On

          4  October 28th they do their annual Small Business

          5  Expo, and we have, again, with our partners at the

          6  State and federal level, we will have an entire

          7  exhibition, if you will, at that event where

          8  businesses can come in for sort of speed dating kind

          9  of diagnostic in about nine different categories.

         10  You'll have the person from the local level, the

         11  State guy, the federal guy there.

         12                 So, we are really starting to kick

         13  the promotion of the system into a much higher gear

         14  at this point.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Terrific.

         16                 Of course, I'm sure you'll let the

         17  Council know, and this Committee especially, what we

         18  could do in concert with you to improve conditions

         19  for small businesses.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWHOUSE:

         21  Absolutely.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: And you work with

         23  Brooklyn Chamber of Commerce.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWHOUSE: That we

         25  do.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: And do you have a

          3  satellite sort of over there to aid small business,

          4  I believe?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWHOUSE: Right.

          6  The Business Solutions Center in Brooklyn is located

          7  on 9 Bond Street in Downtown Brooklyn and the Center

          8  is operated by the Chamber.

          9                 We, as I said, we have the seven

         10  centers that I mentioned, and then work very closely

         11  with other third parties who may not operate a

         12  business solutions center but provide some sort of

         13  services to businesses and we treat those as

         14  affiliate partners, constantly referring people back

         15  and forth.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Is it in effect,

         17  though? I know you'd like to, but is it in effect

         18  with the other -- well, Manhattan we know, but the

         19  other three boroughs also, as well?

         20                 Manhattan and Brooklyn I believe it's

         21  cooking, but as far as the other three boroughs?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HECHT: Yes,

         23  we're in all five boroughs at this point.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: You're operating,

         25  there's a satellite to it?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWHOUSE: Up and

          3  operating.

          4                 North shore and West Shore of Staten

          5  Island, Jamaica, Queens, Downtown Brooklyn, Lower

          6  Manhattan, 125th Street, 149th Street in the Bronx.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Is there two in

          8  Staten Island? One in Brooklyn?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWHOUSE: There

         10  are two in the -- well, there are two in Staten

         11  Island. The Staten Island EDC basically. One of the

         12  things we've done also is, that's sort of an unusual

         13  relationships. They have provided business services

         14  for quite some time under their, sort of their own

         15  umbrella. And what we've done is we've trained their

         16  staff in our methodology, providing them our

         17  material. We're using our case management system

         18  with them, so we're tracking all of the cases in the

         19  same way. So, they're effectively a business

         20  solutions center.

         21                 I should also mention as part of the

         22  effort to provide services to manufacturing

         23  industrial businesses. The City has provided funding

         24  for many, many years to in-place industrial parks

         25  and there have been contractors in those areas to
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          2  provide those services.

          3                 All of those contractors within the

          4  next year, and additional ones, because we're

          5  rolling that service out into new industrial

          6  business zones, will be providing services through

          7  our Business Solutions system.

          8                 So, they're effectively going to be

          9  another dozen or so centers operating as Business

         10  Solutions Centers and we'll have many more in

         11  Brooklyn once that program is up and running.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Good. Okay, so

         13  Staten Island has two right now for more practical

         14  consideration?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWHOUSE: That's

         16  right.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Just sort of fell

         18  into line.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWHOUSE: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Okay. It is

         21  important for us to work with you.

         22                 The staffing levels approximately, do

         23  you feel you have sufficient staff at each of the

         24  locations, or it would be helpful to have more, the

         25  language situations perhaps. Like I could speak to
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          2  Brooklyn for sure.

          3                 I don't know if there's over 100

          4  different languages in Brooklyn, and some in

          5  particular, in that realm, saying for sure ten times

          6  --

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWHOUSE: Yes. I

          8  mean, I don't think we would ever say no to more

          9  staffing, but we may deal with it as best we can.

         10                 Center staffing, there are a certain

         11  number of people that we have at each center, and as

         12  I mentioned, our Business Outreach Team actually

         13  operates out of 110 Williams Street.

         14                 It was important, what we realized

         15  early on was it was great to have Business Solutions

         16  Centers, but there are only so many small business

         17  owners who can make it to a Business Solutions

         18  Center, because they're running the shop. So, we

         19  needed to consolidate a team of people who could go

         20  out in the field, visit people where they're

         21  actually doing business and provide services that

         22  way. And a lot of those folks, unfortunately, speak

         23  a number of different languages, Mandarin, Chinese.

         24  Mandarin, Spanish, Russian, French.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Creole.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWHOUSE: Yes,

          3  Creole.

          4                 And we're constantly looking to do

          5  more there, but that's a very important point.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Well, I got

          7  nothing bad to say about what you're doing, or the

          8  Administration's role in this, of course.

          9                 Doing a great job, and we both have

         10  business interests at heart, which is terrific. So

         11  we look forward in a symbiotic way to working with

         12  you in the future. Any help that we can assist, I

         13  know you will let me know and the Commissioner, as

         14  well.

         15                 So, are there any questions? It must

         16  be late in the day here.

         17                 Having said that, do we have anything

         18  else?

         19                 All right, well, I appreciate your

         20  testimony --

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NEWHOUSE: Thank

         22  you, sir. Okay.

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HECHT: Thank

         24  you, Council member.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: -- Very much your
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          2  appearing here.

          3                 Oh, I'm sorry, there is one more

          4  testimony coming through with, again Bob Bookman

          5  number two.

          6                 Again, thank you, Commissioner.

          7                 If you'd please identify yourself,

          8  Mr. Bookman, for the record.

          9                 MR. BOOKMAN: Yes. Robert Bookman. I'm

         10  an attorney in the City of New York, appearing today

         11  in support of these intros, as a representative of a

         12  number of business groups, including the City

         13  Chapter of the New York State Restaurant

         14  Association, the New York Nightlife Association, the

         15  Newsstand Operations Association, and a number of

         16  small businesses.

         17                 I don't have any powerpoint

         18  presentation, although I do have little nifty

         19  diagrams that I'll get to in a moment.

         20                 I have the most respect for

         21  Commissioner Walsh, I've known him for many years,

         22  and his agency, and I know his heart is in the right

         23  place, and I don't have any objection to what they

         24  do. It's just what they don't do. And what business

         25  community needs, you know, the best thing that the
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          2  Department of Business Services could do for the

          3  small business community is speak with the other

          4  agencies and the Deputy Mayors and stop the flood of

          5  violations and the tens of millions of dollars in

          6  fines that are taken out of the pockets of small

          7  businesses on an annual basis.

          8                 Be our advocate. It's great to be

          9  able to help people to get into business, but once

         10  they're in business, you know, we've got to keep

         11  them in business. And, you know, the enforcement,

         12  you know, titlewave that small businesses have been

         13  under in the last few years is negating the good

         14  work that Commissioner Walsh and his team is doing,

         15  as far as getting people into business.

         16                 I also think that there's a little

         17  bit of a dichotomy in what the City considers small

         18  businesses and on the street we consider small

         19  businesses. I find interesting that they're

         20  participating in this Crain's, you know, small

         21  business conference. It's a good place for them to

         22  be. I don't say they shouldn't. But you're average

         23  mom and pop Russian-speaking restaurant owner

         24  wannabe, believe me, ain't reading Crain's and is

         25  certainly not coming to Crain's business
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          2  conferences. There's a whole different level of

          3  small businesses that we're talking about.

          4                 And the message that I have been

          5  asked to convey to this Committee is simple and

          6  straightforward, the small business community of

          7  this City, which is the lifeblood of our

          8  neighborhoods is united in support of these bills.

          9                 A particular urgency is Intro. 709,

         10  which protects small businesses from truly

         11  unreasonable rules, regulations and fines.

         12                 You've got to remember how we got to

         13  Intro. 709 in the first place, and it was basically

         14  a list of, you know, outdated or silly laws or laws

         15  that are enforced in a silly way, and that's why --

         16  or an unfair way, and that's why that bill is here.

         17                 The punishment. No one in the small

         18  business community feels that violators of the law

         19  should not be punished. You know, let's be clear

         20  about that. But the punishment should be fair and

         21  the interpretation of the law should make sense.

         22                 This intro corrects some nightmarish

         23  examples of abuse of the intent of laws passed by

         24  the City Council.

         25                 For example, I'm pleased to hear that
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          2  no one in the Administration has testified against

          3  the amendment to the tobacco law. I assume since no

          4  one testified against it, that they're in favor of

          5  it, so we should proceed with that section as

          6  expeditiously as possible.

          7                 But that double-dipping, if you will,

          8  of, you know, of a business being fined for the same

          9  occurrence, for the same incident, both under the

         10  State law and the City law, clearly has to be

         11  changed.

         12                 When the State gave the -- actually,

         13  to go back one step, Chairman, when the City passed

         14  the -- when the City passed the law regulating,

         15  requiring a license for the sale of tobacco here in

         16  the City of New York, that was because at the time

         17  the Administration, the previous Administration

         18  testified, that there was no enforcement power to a

         19  lot of these laws here in New York City, that the

         20  State law, which everybody, every retailer had to

         21  have, that there were enforcement agents in the

         22  counties outside of New York City, but no one was

         23  enforcing in the City, so they needed another

         24  licensing law.

         25                 So, we're unique in New York City in
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          2  the retail sale of tobacco, you still have to have

          3  your State license, because you're part of New York

          4  State, but you have to have this other license that

          5  duplicates the State license, and that's a City

          6  license to sell tobacco.

          7                 But when a year or so ago the State

          8  amended its law allowing the Department of Consumer

          9  Affairs and the Department of Health to enforce its

         10  law in New York City, the rason detra (phonetic), if

         11  you will, even for the City licensing law, if you

         12  want to be honest about it, is now called into

         13  question. It serves no function other than requiring

         14  another fee. But certainly, if we're not going to

         15  repeal the requirement for a City licensing law, and

         16  I hypothesize that we really should, because there

         17  really is no function for it now, that the City has

         18  the authority, that Health and Consumer Affairs has

         19  the authority to enforce the State law, the sale of

         20  tobacco to a minor and everything else that, you

         21  know, we certainly should not be fining businesses

         22  twice, you know, for the same occurrence. And then

         23  when you add onto it the previous hearing where ALJs

         24  are instructed to fine the maximum, we are having a

         25  situation where I had a poor Bangladeshi who owns a
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          2  grocery store that sells tobacco come to me. He had

          3  his first violation for sale of tobacco to a minor.

          4  He was appalled by it. Immediately fired the

          5  employee. Went to the Department of Consumer Affairs

          6  on his own to do the hearing. Figured he would

          7  express all of this and have some sort of

          8  mitigation.

          9                 Well, their ALJs have been told to

         10  fine the maximum, $1,000 for a first occurrence.

         11  Since he also did not have his "No sale to minor"

         12  sign conspicuously displayed, he was fined $1,000

         13  for sale to minor, $1,000 for the sign not being

         14  conspicuously displayed, and then $2,000 under the

         15  State law for the same two violations. So, this poor

         16  guy had a $4,000 fine for a first-time occurrence.

         17                 That clearly is not what you intended

         18  when you created a City licensing law, or what the

         19  State intended when they gave the City the authority

         20  to enforce the State law.

         21                 The section about electronic stores,

         22  Section 8, about the MSRP, I would also suggest not

         23  just that the language that you have, but an

         24  additional section that these MSRPs, these

         25  manufacturer retail display lists, I don't know if
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          2  you're aware, are generally only made available by

          3  manufacturers to authorize retailers.

          4                 A lot of the small mom and pop

          5  retailers in the City of New York, do not buy

          6  directly from Sony or Canon or Nokea, they're too

          7  small. They buy through middlemen. Lawfully, but

          8  they do not have access to the manufacturer's

          9  because they call it their retailer price list. They

         10  don't have access to that.

         11                 So, we're asking and fining

         12  businesses for disclosing information that they

         13  don't have and can't get. So, there's a real flaw in

         14  that law. Consumer Affairs could certainly have a

         15  library available and have the manufacturers keep

         16  them up-to-date, and at least, and perhaps have it

         17  on-line so that businesses who cannot get the MSRP,

         18  and find out from the City what the MSRPs are and

         19  then determine whether based on their rent on Fifth

         20  Avenue, if they're choosing to sell an item above

         21  MSRP and they want that disclosed, I have no problem

         22  with that. But we need to be able to have access to

         23  the MSRP and too often we do not.

         24                 The sidewalk cafe provision I

         25  specifically want to address for a moment. And if
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          2  you look at my handy little handouts in my

          3  testimony, here is where a picture really does say a

          4  thousand words.

          5                 Your section is designed to address a

          6  very simple problem, and here is the problem. On S 1

          7  we have Cafe Bookman, a made up cafe consisting of

          8  five tables and 20 seats. You eat there regularly.

          9  They don't get any tips. I don't understand. It's on

         10  Broadway. You know, 325 Broadway, my office address,

         11  not coincidentally. We have a 7' 2" cafe, a 10' 2"

         12  clearance, 3' service aisle and tables occupying 4

         13  feet.

         14                 Now, my license says five tables and

         15  20 seats. If you look at S 2, you will see that what

         16  Cafe Bookman really does, because it's much simpler

         17  when you set up and break down the cafe at night,

         18  rather than carrying in large 4' four-tops in and

         19  out of the door, we put two 2' two-tops, and we push

         20  it together and we set it up as if it's a four-top,

         21  and we still have 20 seats. Take up the same amount

         22  of sidewalk space, same everything.

         23                 Consumer Affairs recently, within the

         24  last year or two, has decided to issue Cafe Bookman

         25  in the S 2 situation a violation for having ten
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          2  tables, even though we're licensed for five tables.

          3                 It seems silly to me that we're

          4  counting pedestals and not the basic layout. And I'm

          5  afraid that if that's their mindset, that the

          6  language you have here needs to be tweaked a little

          7  bit, frankly, because they're still going to

          8  interpret your language the same way and say I still

          9  have ten tables.

         10                 So, I think what we need to tweak it

         11  to say, that as long as a number of seats -- because

         12  that's really -- we're licensing two things, the

         13  amount of sidewalk space that we're occupying and

         14  amount of people that we're putting out there. And I

         15  think what the language should say is if the number

         16  of seats is what we're licensed for, and the amount

         17  of space that we're occupying is what we're licensed

         18  for, then slight changes of configuration do not

         19  matter.

         20                 I don't think the number of tables is

         21  frankly relevant. The number of seats and amount of

         22  space. And if I want to put a round table rather

         23  than a square table, you know, I think we need a

         24  little bit of changing, you know, of what's

         25  necessary there.
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          2                 As this Intro. 713 and 715, 713

          3  provides the most practical idea for making the

          4  lives of small business owners just a little bit

          5  simpler by having everything located, you know, in

          6  one spot.

          7                 I do have some concerns with Intro.

          8  715, frankly, in that relying on a clerk to advise a

          9  new business owner about what licenses you may need

         10  for a new business can get very tricky and raise

         11  issues of liability.

         12                 You can't really, you know, rely on a

         13  clerk to ask the right questions about method of

         14  operation to then give you an accurate answer about

         15  what licenses may be necessary.

         16                 I think it's more important for

         17  government to have in one place all of the

         18  information about all the various licenses, and a

         19  description about if you do A, B and C you'll need a

         20  license. I would not want them to be giving legal

         21  advice as to what licenses a particular business

         22  needs or it doesn't need.

         23                 What we do feel is needed, however,

         24  and unfortunately is not addressed in this

         25  legislation, and I would ask you to consider, is a
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          2  small business ombudsman in each agency that

          3  regulates small businesses, like Health Department,

          4  Consumer Affairs, DEP. Probably only about five, six

          5  agencies that we're talking about. One person in

          6  each of those agencies who is independent from the

          7  Commissioner of that agency and who reports directly

          8  to the Commissioner of Small Business Services, such

          9  as we have with the Inspector General system. Each

         10  agency has an internal IG, that IG reports to DOI,

         11  and that's who they're responsible.

         12                 If we had, then small business owners

         13  would know they have a person to go to in each

         14  agency with complaints about how businesses are

         15  being treated, with ideas, and will feel confident

         16  that he or she is being listened to, I think that

         17  really would make the Department of Small Business

         18  Services the advocate for small business, which I

         19  think that portion of their Charter mandate is not

         20  being met.

         21                 It's only five or six lines. I think

         22  it would not be a budget breaker, but I think it

         23  would go a long way to making small business owners

         24  feel that they have somebody in each agency that is

         25  an advocate, that's their job, is to be an advocate
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          2  for them.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Bookman. I appreciate your testimony, your diagrams,

          6  which point out, you know, some of the let's go

          7  after the silly law details, you know. And of

          8  course, every town we know has got anachronisms and

          9  laws in the book that are really too strange and not

         10  enough people take the time to look into them.

         11                 MR. BOOKMAN: And on behalf of the

         12  thousands of businesses that I'm here today, thank

         13  you, Mr. Chairman, for having this hearing, for

         14  considering these bills. We hope they proceed, you

         15  know, with some modifications here and there,

         16  especially 709.

         17                 We know that the business community

         18  knows that they have a friend and someone who will

         19  listen to them, as long as you're chair of this

         20  Committee, and we appreciate that and we want you to

         21  know that we understand that.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Well, thank you,

         23  Mr. Bookman. And we'll see you at the next hearing I

         24  would imagine, as well.

         25                 With that, it concludes this portion
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          2  of our program. This Committee is ended now. Thank

          3  you.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 3:43 p.m.)
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